
BOARD OF 
�DIRECTORS
MEETING

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 19, 2026



                                                                                            
                                                                                   

   
  
 

STADIUM AUTHORITY BOARD: 
 

Steve Hill, Chair 
  Ike Lawrence Epstein, Vice Chair 
  Jan Jones Blackhurst, Secretary 
  Rose McKinney-James 
  Mike Newcomb  
  J. Tito Tiberti 
  Diana Valles 
       

      Lawrence Weekly 
      Tommy White 
      Bob Yosaitis 
      Steve Zanella 
      Zach Conine, nonvoting, ex-officio Board Member                               
      Ken Diaz, nonvoting, ex-officio Board Member                 

THIS PUBLIC MEETING IS PROPERLY NOTICED AND POSTED AT THE FOLLOWING LOCATIONS: 
 

Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (LVCVA) – 2nd Floor Administration Offices, South Hall 
3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, NV 89109 

 

   Stadium Authority Website: https://www.lvstadiumauthority.com/meetings/ 
Nevada Public Notice Website: https://notice.nv.gov/ 

 
 

 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (BOARD) MAY:  
CONSIDER AGENDA ITEMS OUT OF ORDER; 

COMBINE TWO OR MORE AGENDA ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION; AND 
REMOVE OR DELAY DISCUSSION ON ANY AGENDA ITEM AT ANY TIME. 

 

AGENDA 
 
OPENING CEREMONIES 

 
 

Call to Order 
 

 Roll Call 
 

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC 
  
The first public comment period is limited to comments on items on the agenda. Items raised under this portion of the 
agenda cannot be deliberated or acted upon until the notice provisions of the Nevada Open Meeting Law have been met.  
If you wish to speak to the Board at this time, please step up to the podium and clearly state your name and spell your first 
and last name for the record. COMMENTS ARE LIMITED TO THREE (3) MINUTES IN LENGTH. 

 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES 
 

 Approval of the Agenda. 
For possible action. 
 

 Approval of the Minutes from the December 4, 2025, Regular Meeting of the Board 
For possible action. 
 
 
 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING AND AGENDA 
 

LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY BOARD 
THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 19, 2026 

3:00 P.M. 
 

Las Vegas Convention Center – South Hall Board Room 
3150 Paradise Road 

 Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 

 
 

https://www.lvstadiumauthority.com/meetings/
https://notice.nv.gov/


 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Board of Directors Meeting 
February 19, 2026 

Page 2 of 3 
 

COMMENTS BY CHAIR, BOARD MEMBERS, AND STAFF 
 
The Chair, Board Members, and staff will provide comments or updates. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
STAFF REPORTS AND REQUESTED ACTIONS 
 

GENERAL 
 
1. Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) – Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 

Stadium Authority staff and the Authority’s independent auditors from Eide Bailly, LLP, will report on the 
Authority’s fiscal year (FY) 2025 ACFR, including independent auditors’ opinions and findings, 
submitted to the Board. 
 

This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 

2. Appointment of External Audit Firm – Eide Bailly, LLP 
That the Board considers: 1) Approving the reappointment of Eide Bailly, LLP as the Stadium Authority’s 
independent audit firm for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2026, in the amount of $45,000; and 2) 
Authorizing the Chair to execute any necessary agreements. 
 
For possible action. 

 
FOOTBALL STADIUM 
 
 3. Las Vegas Stadium Authority Revenue Report 

Stadium Authority staff will provide a report on year-to-date stadium district room tax revenues. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 

 4. Stadium Activity Report Fourth Quarter 2025 – Allegiant Stadium 
Las Vegas Stadium Events Company (StadCo) staff will provide a stadium activity report for Allegiant 
Stadium’s fourth quarter of calendar year 2025. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 

 5. Approval of University of Nevada, Las Vegas (UNLV) 2026 Team Home Game for the 2026 Season 
at Allegiant Stadium 
That the Board considers approving the proposed August 29, 2026, home game against the Memphis 
Tigers as an addition to the approved UNLV Team Home Games schedule at Allegiant Stadium for the 
2026 through 2033 football seasons. 
 
For possible action. 
 

 6. Football Stadium Community Oversight Committee Report 
The Stadium Community Oversight Committee (Committee) met on January 26, 2026.  The Committee 
Chair will provide a report of the meeting to the Board. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 

 7. Resolution to Transfer Appropriations Between Funds in the Fiscal Year 2026 Budget 
That the Board considers approving the transfer reconciliation schedule and adopting the associated 
Resolution R-2026-01 to augment the fiscal year (FY) 2026 Clark County Stadium Authority budget. 
 
For possible action.  



 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Board of Directors Meeting 
February 19, 2026 

Page 3 of 3 
 

 
BASEBALL STADIUM 
 
  8. Personal Seat License Marketing and Sales Agreement with Athletics StadCo, LLC 

That the Board considers delegating authority to the Board Chair to: 1) Execute a personal seat license 
(PSL) marketing and sales agreement (Agreement) between the Clark County Stadium Authority and 
Athletics StadCo, LLC (StadCo); and 2) Approve and execute any necessary documents and proposals 
to effectuate the Agreement. 
 
For possible action. 
 

  9. Baseball Stadium Revenue Report 
Stadium Authority staff will provide a report on year-to-date baseball stadium revenues. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 

10. Major League Baseball Stadium Project Update 
Representatives of Athletics StadCo LLC will update the Board on the progress of the Major League 
Baseball stadium project. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 

11. Baseball Stadium Community Oversight Committee Report 
The Baseball Stadium Community Oversight Committee (Baseball Committee) met on February 5, 2026.  
Stadium Authority Staff will provide a report to the Board summarizing the Baseball Committee meeting. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC  
 

This public comment period is for any matter that is within the jurisdiction of the Board. Items raised under this portion of 
the agenda cannot be deliberated or acted upon until the notice provisions of the Nevada Open Meeting Law have been 
met.  If you wish to speak to the Board at this time, please step up to the podium and clearly state your name and spell 
your first and last name for the record.  COMMENTS ARE LIMITED TO THREE (3) MINUTES IN LENGTH. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

 

Persons are invited to submit written remarks for all matters, both on and off the agenda.  Written remarks presented for inclusion in the 
Board’s minutes must be flat, unfolded, on paper of standard quality, and 8½ by 11 inches in size.  Written remarks shall not exceed five 
(5) pages in length.  The LVSA will not accept for filing any submission that does not comply with this rule.  On a case-by-case basis, 
the Board may permit the filing of noncomplying [sic] written remarks, documents, and related exhibits pursuant to NRS 241.035(1)(e).   
 
To submit ideas to the LVSA, please visit http://www.lvstadiumauthority.com/meetings/ 
 

The Board’s meeting rooms are accessible to persons with disabilities.  If special arrangements are required, please contact the 
Customer Safety Department at: 702-892-7400, which is a 24-hour Dispatch Control Center, or contact Silvia Perez in the Board Office 
at: 702-892-2802 or sperez@lvcva.com  
 

Members of the Board may participate in this meeting via telephone conference call.   

For information or questions regarding this agenda please contact: 
Silvia Perez, Executive Assistant to the Board  
3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109  
702-892-2802 or sperez@lvcva.com 

Supporting materials for this meeting are available at 3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, NV 89109 or by contacting Silvia Perez at 702-
892-2802 or sperez@lvcva.com 

 

http://www.lvstadiumauthority.com/meetings/
mailto:sperez@lvcva.com
mailto:sperez@lvcva.com
mailto:sperez@lvcva.com




The Las Vegas Stadium Authority (LVSA) Board Meeting was held on December 4, 2025, at the Las Vegas 
Convention Center, 3150 Paradise Road, Las Vegas, Nevada 89109. This meeting was properly noticed and 
posted in compliance with the Nevada Open Meeting Law. 

Board of Directors (Board) 
Present unless otherwise noted 

  Steve Hill, Chair 
  Lawrence Epstein, Vice Chair…………..…virtual 
  Jan Jones Blackhurst, Secretary 
  Rose McKinney-James 
  Mike Newcomb………………………..…...…virtual 
J. Tito Tiberti

  Diana Valles.……………...……….…………virtual 

  Lawrence Weekly………………………..…virtual 
  Tommy White…………………………....…virtual 
  Bob Yosaitis    
  Steve Zanella………………………………virtual 
  Zach Conine, ex-officio…………….……..virtual 
  Ken Diaz, ex-officio……...………………..virtual 

OPENING CEREMONIES 

Chair Steve Hill called the meeting to order at 1:30 p.m. 

Caroline Bateman, Board Counsel, acknowledged that all members of the Stadium Authority Board were 
present, either in person or virtually, except for Member Lawrence Weekly. 

Member Weekly joined the meeting virtually at 1:32 p.m. 

COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC 

There were no comments from the floor by the public. 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA AND MINUTES 

COMMENTS BY CHAIR AND BOARD MEMBERS 

Chair Hill expressed excitement for the progress on the A’s Major League Baseball (MLB) stadium construction. 
He noted that he and a few others recently toured the construction site.  

APPROVAL OF 
THE AGENDA 
AND MINUTES  

Member Tommy White moved, seconded by Member Jan Jones Blackhurst, and it was 
carried by unanimous vote of the voting members, to approve the December 4, 2025, 
Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors agenda and to approve the minutes of the 
August 21, 2025, Regular Meeting of the Board. 

Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board Meeting 
December 4, 2025 

Minutes 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

December 4, 2025 
Minutes 

 Page 2 of 6 
 

Chair Hill commented on Allegiant Stadium’s vast overperformance in attendance and drawing incremental 
visitors to Las Vegas. He noted that Allegiant Stadium achieved approximately two-thirds of the originally 
projection of 450,000 annual visitors in the third quarter of 2025 alone. Mr. Hill emphasized the importance of 
that performance amid recent economic challenges.   
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 
STAFF REPORTS AND REQUESTED ACTIONS 
 
GENERAL 
 
1.  Public Officials Liability Policy – Westchester Fire Insurance Company 

Stadium Authority Administrator Ed Finger stated that the proposed public officials liability 
policy contains the same terms and price as the previous year’s policy and requested that 
the Board considers approving the placement of a public officials liability policy with 
Westchester Fire Insurance Company for the policy period February 25, 2026, through 
February 25, 2027, for $40,982. 
 
Fiscal Impact 
FY 2026: $40,982 
 
Member White moved, seconded by Member Jones Blackhurst, and it was carried by 
unanimous vote of the voting members, to approve the placement of a public officials 
liability policy with Westchester Fire Insurance Company for the policy period 
February 25, 2026, through February 25, 2027, for $40,982. 

 

 
FOOTBALL STADIUM 
 

    2. LV Stadium Events Company Proposed 2026 Capital Budget – Allegiant Stadium 
Mr. Finger outlined the requirements in Senate Bill 1 of the 30th Special Session of the 
Nevada State Legislature (SB1) and the LV Stadium Events Company (StadCo) Lease 
agreement for Allegiant Stadium  as related to StadCo’s annual capital improvement budget. 
He noted the required rolling five-year forecast of projected capital improvements, which is 
informational only. Mr. Finger referenced the supporting materials for this agenda item and 
highlighted the $5.8 million in capital repair items eligible for reimbursement from the Stadium 
Authority Capital Fund via the waterfall payment structure, and $2.2 million in capital 
improvement items eligible from the StadCo Capital Fund, which does not receive waterfall 
funds. He detailed the key Capital Improvement projects including a Venue Management 
System (VMS) storage upgrade, a Virtual Server Infrastructure refresh, a Gate Arm and 
Undercarriage Screening project, and a Carpet and Flooring Replacement project, among 
others. Mr. Finger stated that the Stadium Authority’s Board-approved construction oversight 
partner, Grand Canyon Development Partners (GCDP), reviewed the capital request and 
consulted with Chris Sotiropoulos, Vice President of Stadium Operations for the Las Vegas 
Raiders (Raiders) and various proposed vendors. He reported GCDP’s finding that the 
requested capital improvements are consistent with maintaining a first-class facility and that 
the funds requested are generally appropriate for the items. Mr. Finger reiterated that all 
approved items remain subject to future waterfall availability and will be reimbursed by the 
Stadium Authority at the lower of actual or budgeted project costs.  
 
Mr. Sotiropoulos provided that the proposed capital projects were grouped within three 
categories: replacing vital infrastructure, strengthening safety and security posture, and 
enhancing the guest experience. He noted that the team conducts an in-depth annual review 
to identify projects for the five-year projection.  
 
Staff requested that the Board considers approving the Proposed 2026 Capital Budget for 
Allegiant Stadium as submitted by StadCo. 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

December 4, 2025 
Minutes 

 Page 3 of 6 
 

Fiscal Impact 
The amount of annual fiscal year capital expenditure is determined through the annual Board 
approved budget, subject to the availability of funds through the waterfall. 
 
Member White moved, seconded by Member Jones Blackhurst, and it was carried by 
unanimous vote of the voting members, to approve the Proposed 2026 Capital Budget 
for Allegiant Stadium as submitted by StadCo. 

  
 3. Stadium Activity Report Third Quarter 2025 

Mr. Finger commented on StadCo Lease requirements for good faith efforts and commercially 
reasonable best practices to maximize Allegiant Stadium’s utility and reporting on utilization.  
 
Adam Feldman, Vice President of Ticket and Sales Operations for the Raiders, presented the 
stadium activity report for the third quarter of calendar year 2025. He reported that Allegiant 
Stadium has welcomed nearly 7 million visitors since opening, across private events, Raiders 
games, University of Nevada Las Vegas (UNLV) football games, and concerts. Mr. Feldman 
highlighted the Canelo vs. Crawford boxing match and congratulated Member Mike Newcomb 
for the successful UNLV football season. 
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 

 4. Las Vegas Stadium Authority Revenue Report 
Mr. Finger presented year-to-date stadium district room tax revenues, referencing 
supplemental materials provided with the agenda item. He noted that actual revenues 
exceeded budgeted revenues by 2.3%, despite a slight downturn in visitation to Las Vegas. 
Mr. Finger reported that fiscal year (FY) 2026 Q1 results for stadium district room tax 
revenues showed a 6% year-over-year decline, with $62 million budgeted. He explained that 
projected room tax revenues pose no stress to operations. Mr. Finger detailed the waterfall 
breakdown of the $62 million budgeted in FY 2026 including bond payments, Stadium 
Authority budgeted administrative costs, and UNLV payments. He noted that there were no 
stadium operations costs, and no debt service reserve funding necessary, as the debt reserve 
was already fully funded with two times coverage. Mr. Finger detailed the $6.7 million 
transfers to the Stadium Authority Capital Fund and the Raiders reimbursements. He stated 
that all elements listed total $51 million, and that recent Clark County room tax projections 
are estimated well above that amount.  
 
Chair Hill explained that the revenue streams presented are tied to Allegiant Stadium and its 
bonds. He stated that activity from the Major League Baseball (MLB) ballpark site has begun 
generating revenue, which will be reported in future meetings. Mr. Hill noted that those funds 
can be set aside for future debt service reserves and pay-go construction if the debt service 
reserve is achieved before bond issuance. 
 
Mr. Finger concurred and stated that he anticipates presenting a baseball revenues report at 
the Board’s next meeting. 
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 

 5. LV Stadium Events Company Annual Audit Report 
Mr. Finger outlined StadCo Lease requirements for reporting on its annual independent 
financial statement audit and described the audit’s purpose to convey the auditors’ opinion 
and review agreed upon procedures to verify the accuracy of stadium activity data and 
reimbursement of capital amounts. He expressed agreement with the audit results and 
introduced Raiders Chief Financial Officer Michael Crome to elaborate. 
 
 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

December 4, 2025 
Minutes 

 Page 4 of 6 
 

Mr. Crome introduced Todd Refnes, Partner at KPMG, LLP, to present a summary report on 
StadCo’s annual independent financial statement audit. Mr. Refnes described the services 
provided by his firm, including the annual audit of StadCo’s financial statements and the 
review of agreed-upon procedures. He detailed that the audit was performed and executed 
in accordance with professional and American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
(AICPA) standards. He noted that the results of the audit indicate that StadCo’s financial 
statements materially comply with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) 
and that KPMG, LLP issued an unqualified (clean) opinion with no issues to report. 
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 

 
BASEBALL STADIUM 

 
 6. Baseball Stadium Community Oversight Committee Report 

Ms. Bateman reported that the Baseball Stadium Community Oversight Committee 
(Committee) met on October 29, 2025, and received a report on workforce and community 
engagement requirements under the Community Benefits Agreement (CBA) and Senate Bill 
1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature. She noted that although the CBA’s 
community benefits requirements do not take effect until after Clark County issues public 
financing bonds, both the A’s and StadCo (the Team, collectively) are already currently 
implementing them. 
 
Ms. Bateman explained that workforce requirements are divided into construction and 
operational categories. She highlighted project construction manager Mortenson | McCarthy’s 
report that 73% of construction hours were worked by Target Workers defined as women, 
minorities, veterans, and individuals with disabilities, exceeding the 51% requirement. Ms. 
Bateman reported that the 15% small local business participation requirement has also been 
met, with 16% participation achieved. She stated that operation workforce requirements will 
commence upon stadium opening.  
 
Ms. Bateman noted the Team’s commitment to clearly communicate engagement 
opportunities to the community and reported that it attends 5-10 community events per week. 
She shared Baseball Stadium Community Benefits Director Don Burnette’s report, which 
outlined monitoring efforts for workforce requirements and CBA compliance including review 
of project documents, construction contract requirements, and payroll data. 
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action.  
 

   7. Major League Baseball Stadium Project Update 
A’s Vice Chairman Sandy Dean thanked the Board for its engagement and support, Clark 
County for its permitting efforts, and the Las Vegas community for welcoming the A’s. He 
recognized A’s and Mortensen | McCarthy representatives in the audience. Mr. Dean shared 
details on the recent opening of the A’s Ballpark Experience Center at the Uncommons, noting 
that appointments would soon be available. 
 
Mr. Dean provided an executive summary on Major League Baseball Stadium project 
progress covering construction activities and project coordination. He highlighted the near 
completion of foundation work, ongoing buttress construction, and the start of the lower 
concourse pours. He invited the Board and audience to view progress via the A’s Construction 
Cam, and described ongoing coordination of mechanical, electrical, and plumbing (MEP) 
components, permitting efforts, steel fabrication, and design work. 
 
 
 
 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

December 4, 2025 
Minutes 

 Page 5 of 6 
 

Mr. Dean outlined upcoming schedule milestones, including continued work on foundations, 
buttresses, vertical concrete structures and decks, permits, and steel erection. He presented 
an I-chart showing ongoing and upcoming milestone activities. Chair Hill asked about the 
significance of the blue line on the chart, to which Tyler Van Eeckhaut, Project Manager at 
Mortenson | McCarthy, explained that it indicates the date the information was last updated. 
 
Mr. Van Eeckhaut thanked Clark County for its collaboration and recognized the men and 
women on the field building the project. He explained that the presented chart offers a 
graphical representation of the project schedule and workflow, not a day-by-day execution 
plan. He presented a video illustrating key milestones, including foundation work, column and 
vertical wall placement, structural decks, vertical build-up, bowl and roof steel support, interior 
MEP work, framing, rain screen, and enclosure.  
 
Chair Hill asked if the project was on schedule and if Mr. Van Eeckhaut felt good about 
progress, to which Mr. Van Eeckahut answered yes and commended the workers for their 
“outstanding” worth ethic and quality of work. Mr. Van Eeckhaut shared progress photos 
showing current work on concrete slab pours, supporting framework, columns, and 
buttresses. 
 
Mr. Van Eeckhaut described SLB participation, noting 17% achievement, which exceeds the 
required 15%. He noted that of the $779 million in contracts awarded, $128 million went to 
SLB firms and $62 million to diverse firms, with 67 total firms receiving awards. 
 
Mr. Van Eeckhaut discussed workforce diversity efforts, noting that current Target Worker 
participation stands at 78%, exceeding the 51% requirement for onsite construction work 
hours. 
 
Member Weekly thanked Mr. Van Eeckhaut, Mr. Dean, and Mr. Badain for their community 
outreach efforts and adherence to SB1 and expressed optimism for future work by Director 
Burnette. 
 
A's Vice President of Marketing, Communications and Community, Catherine Aker, informed 
the Board that recaps of community engagement efforts are distributed monthly and she 
shared details on joining the email list. She described the A’s participation in key programs 
supporting youth baseball and softball, and noted involvement in 132 events to date, reflecting 
an average of five per week, including community celebrations, festivals, and 
nonprofit/chamber events. Ms. Aker reported on support for more than 140 organizations 
through in-kind donations and financial contributions, as well as participation in four career 
fairs. She highlighted focus areas including education, youth, food insecurity, homelessness, 
and military, and outlined involvement in 26 back-to-school, Halloween, Thanksgiving, and 
winter holiday events. 
 
Mr. Van Eeckhaut presented a summary of project communication and community group 
engagement efforts. He emphasized commitment to SLB engagement, outlined numerous 
supported organizations, and highlighted the implementation of a Toys for Tots program. Mr. 
Van Eeckhaut noted that the vendor registration website remains active with up-to-date 
information on how to get engaged and stated that the team is available to meet with 
interested parties.  
 
Mr. Badain wished Member Newcomb luck on an upcoming UNLV football game and 
extended the same to the Raiders for theirs. He thanked Mr. Dean, Ms. Aker, and Mr. Van 
Eeckhaut for their presentations and invited the Board to the A’s Ballpark Experience Center, 
a job site tour, and quarterly craft lunches honoring the workers.  
 
 



Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
 Board Meeting 

December 4, 2025 
Minutes 

 Page 6 of 6 
 

Member McKinney-James commended Mr. Van Eeckhaut on community engagement efforts 
and asked if the list of supported organizations is stagnant or if it will be expanded. Mr. Van 
Eeckhaut answered that they are always seeking ways to engage more organizations and 
welcomed suggestions. 
 
Member Jones Blackhurst described her experience at a Raiders game in Allegiant Stadium 
and hoped the A’s could replicate the efficiency of its women’s facilities. 
 
Chair Hill thanked the presenters and expressed satisfaction with the progress.  
 
This was an informational item and did not require Board action. 
 

 COMMENTS FROM THE FLOOR BY THE PUBLIC 

 
Timothy Marttala shared his youth experiences as an A’s fan, voiced support for the team’s move to Las Vegas, 
and described his manifesto, “Improving Sports and Entertainment Events in Portland and Oregon” and its role 
in the creation of a sports authority in Portland. He outlined the authority’s grassroots movement and his role in 
helping attract a Major League Baseball team there. Mr. Marttala encouraged the Board’s ongoing efforts and 
noted he will submit a manifesto and ideas in the future.  
 
Mitchell Ferguson thanked the Board and the A’s for their efforts, shared his experiences riding the Las Vegas 
Monorail, and discussed its potential as a transportation option for games at the new ballpark. 
 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

Chair Hill wished UNLV luck on its upcoming football game, wished the audience happy holidays, and 
adjourned the meeting at 2:24 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Respectfully submitted,   Date Approved:    February 19, 2026 
 
 
 
 
  

Silvia Perez 
Executive Assistant to the LVCVA Board 

 Steve Hill 
Chair 

 



  

LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER:  1 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
ANNUAL COMPREHENSIVE FINANCIAL REPORT (ACFR) - 
FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2025 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

Stadium Authority staff and the Authority’s independent auditors from Eide Bailly, LLP, will 
report on the Authority’s fiscal year (FY) 2025 ACFR, including independent auditors’ 
opinions and findings, submitted to the Board of Directors. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 

 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

   

ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

    

 
  

Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 354.624 requires each local government to provide for an 
annual independent audit of all of its funds and account groups. The statute also requires the 
audit to be submitted to the Board of Directors (Board), and the opinions and findings of the 
auditor presented at a meeting of the Board.  
 
Included in the supporting materials for this agenda item is the June 30, 2025, ACFR, 
including independent auditor’s reports as required. This report is submitted within NRS 
requirements and without qualification. Staff will provide a brief summary of the FY 2025 
financial results and a representative from Eide Bailly will be available to discuss the 
independent auditor’s opinions and findings. 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



eidebailly.com
1 Meridian Vista Dr., Ste. 355  •  Las Vegas, NV 89135  •  T 702.304.0405  •  F 702.304.0415  •  EOE

 

1 

December 15, 2025 
 
 
To the Board of Directors 
Clark County Stadium Authority 
Dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority  
Las Vegas, Nevada 
 
 
We have audited the financial statements of Clark County Stadium Authority, dba: Las Vegas Stadium 
Authority, a component unit of Clark County, NV (the “Authority”) as of and for the year ended June 
30, 2025, and have issued our report thereon dated December 15, 2025. Professional standards 
require that we advise you of the following matters relating to our audit. 
 
Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit under Generally Accepted Auditing 
Standards and Government Auditing Standards 
 
As communicated in our letter dated September 23, 2025, our responsibility, as described by 
professional standards, is to form and express an opinion about whether the financial statements that 
have been prepared by management with your oversight are presented fairly, in all material respects, 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Our 
audit of the financial statements does not relieve you or management of your respective 
responsibilities. 
 
Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform our audit to obtain 
reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit of financial statements includes consideration of internal control 
over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
system of internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, as part of our audit, we considered 
the system of internal control of the Authority  solely for the purpose of determining our audit 
procedures and not to provide any assurance concerning such internal control. 
 
We are also responsible for communicating significant matters related to the audit that are, in our 
professional judgment, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting process. 
However, we are not required to design procedures for the purpose of identifying other matters to 
communicate to you.  
 
Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit  
 
We conducted our audit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously communicated to 
you. 



 

2 

Compliance with All Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence 
 
The engagement team, others in our firm, as appropriate, our firm, and other firms utilized in the 
engagement, if applicable, have complied with all relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence.  
 
Qualitative Aspects of the Entity’s Significant Accounting Practices 
 
Significant Accounting Policies 
 
Management has the responsibility to select and use appropriate accounting policies. A summary of 
the significant accounting policies adopted by the Authority is included in Note 1 to the financial 
statements. There have been no initial selection of accounting policies and no changes in significant 
accounting policies or their application during the year ended June 30, 2025. No matters have come 
to our attention that would require us, under professional standards, to inform you about (1) the 
methods used to account for significant unusual transactions and (2) the effect of significant 
accounting policies in controversial or emerging areas for which there is a lack of authoritative 
guidance or consensus. 
 
Accounting Estimates and Related Disclosures 
 
Accounting estimates and related disclosures are an integral part of the financial statements 
prepared by management and are based on management’s current judgments. Those judgments are 
normally based on knowledge and experience about past and current events and assumptions about 
future events. Certain accounting estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to 
the financial statements and because of the possibility that future events affecting them may differ 
markedly from management’s current judgments. No such sensitive accounting estimates were 
identified. 
 
Financial Statement Disclosures  
 
Certain financial statement disclosures involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive 
because of their significance to financial statement users. There were no financial statement disclosures 
that we consider to be particularly sensitive or involve significant judgment. 
 
Significant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit 
 
We encountered no significant difficulties in dealing with management relating to the performance of 
the audit. 



 

3 

Uncorrected and Corrected Misstatements  
 
For purposes of this communication, professional standards require us to accumulate all known and 
likely misstatements identified during the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and 
communicate them to the appropriate level of management. Further, professional standards require 
us to also communicate the effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods on the 
relevant classes of transactions, account balances or disclosures, and the financial statements as a 
whole.  Uncorrected misstatements or matters underlying those uncorrected misstatements could 
potentially cause future-period financial statements to be materially misstated, even though the 
uncorrected misstatements are immaterial to the financial statements currently under audit. There 
were no uncorrected or corrected missstatements identified as a result of our audit procedures. 
 
Disagreements with Management 
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a 
matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, concerning a financial accounting, reporting, or 
auditing matter, which could be significant to the Authority’s financial statements or the auditor’s 
report. No such disagreements arose during the course of the audit. 
 
Circumstances that Affect the Form and Content of the Auditor’s Report  
 
For purposes of this letter, professional standards require that we communicate any circumstances that 
affect the form and content of our auditor’s report. We did not identify any circumstances that affect 
the form and content of the auditor’s report. 
 
Representations Requested from Management 
 
We have requested certain written representations from management which are included in the 
management representation letter dated December 15, 2025.  
 
Management’s Consultations with Other Accountants 
 
In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters. Management informed us that, and to our knowledge, there were no 
consultations with other accountants regarding auditing and accounting matters. 
 
Other Significant Matters, Findings, or Issues 
 
In the normal course of our professional association with the Authority, we generally discuss a variety of 
matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, significant events or 
transactions that occurred during the year, operating conditions affecting the entity, and operational 
plans and strategies that may affect the risks of material misstatement. None of the matters discussed 
resulted in a condition to our retention as the Authority’s auditors. 



4 

Noncompliance with Laws and Regulations 

We have identified the following matters involving noncompliance with laws and regulations that came 
to our attention during the course of the audit. 

As described in Note 2 to the financial statements NRS 354.624 Section 5 states each local 
government shall provide to its auditor a statement indicating whether certain funds are being 
used expressly for the purposes for which it was created under NRS 354.612. During our audit 
we noted the Football Stadium Fund incurred costs that were not in accordance with the 
purpose of the fund.  This fund incurred expenditures totaling $649,406 which were related to 
the baseball stadium project. This resulted in an apparent violation of NRS 354.624 and 354.612. 

This report is intended solely for the information and use of the Board of Directors, and management of 
the Authority and is not intended to be, and should not be, used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

Las Vegas, Nevada 



eidebailly.com

Financial Statements 
June 30, 2025 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
Clark County, Nevada 



 

 
  

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Table of Contents 

June 30, 2025 
 
 

Officials ...................................................................................................................................................................... 1 

Financial Section 

Independent Auditor’s Report ................................................................................................................................... 2 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis .................................................................................................................... 6 

Basic Financial Statements 

Statement of Net Position ................................................................................................................................... 13 
Statement of Activities ......................................................................................................................................... 14 
Balance Sheet Governmental Funds .................................................................................................................... 15 
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position ............................................................... 16 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances Governmental Funds ............................ 17 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities ................................................................................... 18 
Notes to Financial Statements ............................................................................................................................. 19 

Required Supplementary Information 

General Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual ... 31 
Reconciliation of the Football Stadium Fund Budgetary Information to the Football Stadium Fund  
(GAAP Basis) Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances......................................... 32 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information .................................................................................................. 33 

Supplementary Information 

Reconciliation of the Football Stadium Fund Balance Sheet (Budgetary Basis) to the Football Stadium Fund 
Balance Sheet (GAAP Basis) – Governmental Funds ........................................................................................... 34 
Waterfall Reserve Fund (Internally Reported Fund) 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual ................................ 35 
UNLV Contribution Fund (Internally Reported Fund) 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual ................................ 36 
Debt Service Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual ................................ 37 
Capital Projects Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual ................................ 38 
Capital Projects Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual ................................ 39 
Capital Projects Fund 
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual ................................ 40 

Comments of Independent Auditors 

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other 
Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards .......................................................................................................................... 41 
Auditor's Comments ............................................................................................................................................ 43 

 



1 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Officials 

    June 30, 2025 

Clark County Stadium Authority Board of Directors 

Steve Hill, Chairman CEO/President, Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority 
Ike Lawrence Epstein, Vice-Chairman Sr. Executive Vice President/COO, UFC 
Jan Jones Blackhurst, Secretary Board of Directors Member, Caesars Entertainment 
Rose McKinney-James Managing Principle, Energy Works LLC; McKinney-James & Associates 
Mike Newcomb Executive Director, Thomas & Mack Center 
J. Tito Tiberti Former President, J.A. Tiberti Construction 
Diana Valles President, Culinary Workers Union, Local 226 
Lawrence Weekly Chief of Staff-Chief Diversity Officer, College of Southern Nevada 
Tommy White Business Manager-Secretary Treasurer, Laborers International Union, Local 872 
Bob Yosaitis Former President & Founder, Bradley Pacific Aviation 
Steve Zanella President, MGM Resorts International 
Zach Conine Treasurer, State of Nevada 
Ken Diaz Treasurer, Clark County 



eidebailly.com

Financial Section 
June 30, 2025 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
Clark County, Nevada 



eidebailly.com
1 Meridian Vista Dr., Ste. 355  •  Las Vegas, NV 89135  •  T 702.304.0405  •  F 702.304.0415  •  EOE

 

2 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Honorable Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors 
Clark County, Nevada 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Opinions 
 
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of the 
Clark County Stadium Authority, dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority, Clark County, Nevada (the 
“Authority”), a component unit of Clark County, Nevada (the “County”), as of and for the year ended 
June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities and each major fund of the 
Clark County Stadium Authority, as of June 30, 2025, and the respective changes in financial position for 
the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.



 

3 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any 
currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and 
Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on 
the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is 
expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a 
reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit.



 

4 

Required Supplementary Information 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis, the Football Stadium Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in 
Fund Balances – Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual, the Reconciliation of the Football Stadium Fund 
Budgetary Information to the Football Stadium Fund (GAAP Basis) Statement of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balances, and the related Notes to Required Supplementary Information be 
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. 
 
We have applied certain limited procedures to the Management’s Discussion and Analysis, in 
accordance with GAAS, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 
 
The Football Stadium Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget 
(Budgetary Basis) and Actual, the Reconciliation of the Football Stadium Fund Budgetary Information to 
the Football Stadium Fund (GAAP Basis) Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund 
Balances, and the related Notes to Required Supplementary Information are the responsibility of 
management and were derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records 
used to prepare the basic financial statements. The Football Stadium Fund Schedule of Revenues, 
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual, the Reconciliation of 
the Football Stadium Fund Budgetary Information to the Football Stadium Fund (GAAP Basis) Statement 
of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances, and the related Notes to Required 
Supplementary Information have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the 
basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in 
accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the Football Stadium Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures 
and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual, the Reconciliation of the Football 
Stadium Fund Budgetary Information to the Football Stadium Fund (GAAP Basis) Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances, and the related Notes to Required Supplementary 
Information are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a 
whole.



5 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The Reconciliation of the Football 
Stadium Fund Balance Sheet (Budgetary Basis) to the Football Stadium Fund Balance Sheet (GAAP Basis) 
– Governmental Funds, Waterfall Reserve Fund (Internally Reported Fund) Schedule of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual, UNLV Contribution Fund (Internally
Reported Fund) Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual,
Football Stadium Debt Service Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
– Budget and Actual, Football Stadium Capital Projects Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual, Baseball Stadium Fund Schedule of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual, and Baseball Stadium Debt Service
Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements.
The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements
or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with
GAAS. In our opinion, the Reconciliation of the Football Stadium Fund Balance Sheet (Budgetary Basis)
to the Football Stadium Fund Balance Sheet (GAAP Basis) – Governmental Funds, Waterfall Reserve
Fund (Internally Reported Fund) Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –
Budget and Actual, UNLV Contribution Fund (Internally Reported Fund) Schedule of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual, Football Stadium Debt Service Fund
Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual, Football
Stadium Capital Projects Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances –
Budget and Actual, Baseball Stadium Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund
Balances – Budget and Actual, and Baseball Stadium Debt Service Fund Schedule of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual are fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated  
December 15, 2025, on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and 
on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements 
and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance. 

Las Vegas, Nevada 
December 15, 2025 



 

 6 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Management of the Clark County Stadium Authority dba Las Vegas Stadium Authority (the “Authority”) offers 
the following discussion and analysis as a narrative introduction to the basic financial statements and an 
analytical overview of the Authority’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2025. This narrative is 
intended as a supplement and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements. 
 
Financial Highlights 
 

• The independent auditor’s report offers an unmodified opinion that the Authority’s financial statements 
are presented fairly in all material respects. 
 

• The Authority’s net position decreased by $45,427,191 from $1,113,591,298 as of June 30, 2024, to 
$1,068,164,107 as of June 30, 2025. Unrestricted net position was $483,520, an increase of $12,457 
from the prior year. 
 

• Net capital assets were $1,588,444,250, a decrease from the prior year due to depreciation. 
 

• At year end, bonds payable totaled $695,981,564, a decrease from the prior year resulting from 
principal payments and amortization of bond premiums. 
 

• Room tax revenues decreased by $3,013,348 due to a decrease in hosting of special events.  
 

• Expenses increased by $13,135,705 primarily due to increases in services, building and improvements 
cost and depreciation expense. 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
 
The Authority’s financial statements include the following components: 
 
• Government-Wide Financial Statements 

 
• Statement of Net Position – This statement presents information on the Authority’s assets and liabilities. 

The difference between assets and liabilities is reported as net position. Over time, increases or 
decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the 
Authority is improving or deteriorating. 
 

• Statement of Activities – This statement presents information showing how the Authority’s net position 
changed during the fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are 
reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g., 
uncollected tax revenue and accounts payable). 



 

 7 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
• Governmental Funds Financial Statements 

 
• Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported as governmental 

activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-wide financial 
statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows of 
spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal 
year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the Authority’s near-term financial requirements. 
 

• Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with the same 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By 
doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the Authority’s near-term financing 
decisions. To facilitate this comparison, both the governmental funds balance sheet and the statement 
of governmental fund revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances include an adjustments 
column that show reconciling items, if any, between governmental funds and governmental activities. 
 

• The Authority maintains five governmental funds. The Authority adopts an annual appropriated budget 
for these three governmental funds. A budgetary comparison statement is provided for each of the 
Authority’s governmental funds to demonstrate compliance with the budget. 
 

• Notes to Financial Statements 
 

• The Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of the financial statements and provide additional 
information that is necessary in order to gain a comprehensive understanding of data reported in the 
financial statements. 
 



 

 8 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Government-Wide Financial Analysis 
 
Comparative summary financial statements of the Authority are presented as follows: 
 

Net Position 
June 30, 2025 and 2024 

 
2025 2024

Assets
Current and other assets 179,693,999$        158,658,364$       
Net capital assets 1,588,444,250      1,663,228,008      

Total assets 1,768,138,249      1,821,886,372      

Liabilities
Long-term debt outstanding 695,981,564          705,443,968         
Other liabilities 3,992,578              2,851,106              

Total liabilities 699,974,142          708,295,074         

Net Position
Net investment in capital assets 914,690,231          980,011,585         
Restricted 152,990,356          133,108,650         
Unrestricted 483,520                  471,063                 

Total net position 1,068,164,107$    1,113,591,298$    
 

 
• As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of the Authority’s financial 

position. Assets exceeded liabilities by $1,068,164,107 as of June 30, 2025, and by $1,113,591,298 as of 
June 30, 2024, a net decrease of $45,427,191. 
 

• The largest portion of the Authority’s net position at June 30, 2025, reflects its investment in capital; less 
any related debt outstanding used to acquire those assets. These assets are comprised of land, land 
improvements, a football stadium, and related furniture, fixtures, and equipment. Accordingly, these 
assets are not available for future spending. Although the Authority’s investments in its capital assets 
are reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay the debt must 
be provided from other sources since capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate the debt. 
 

• 14% of the Authority’s net position is restricted due to resources that are subject to external restriction 
on how they may be used. The restricted net position is for repayment of long-term debt, capital 
projects, and other purposes. 
 

• The remaining portion of the Authority’s net position is unrestricted at $483,520. 



 

 9 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2025 
 
 

Changes in Net Position  
Years ended June 30, 2025 and 2024 

 
2025 2024

Revenues
Program Revenues

Capital Contribution 4,986,687$            62,356,171$         
General Revenues

Room Tax Revenues 63,450,443            66,463,791           
Investment Earnings 8,560,706              6,447,359              

Total revenues 76,997,836            135,267,321         

Expenses
General Government 94,393,968            80,995,435           
Interest Expense 28,031,059            28,293,887           

Total expenses 122,425,027          109,289,322         

Change in Net Position (45,427,191)           25,977,999           

Net Position, Beginning of Year 1,113,591,298      1,087,613,299      

Net Position, End of Year 1,068,164,107$    1,113,591,298$    
 

 
• Program revenues decreased by $57,369,484 due to a decrease in donated capital during the fiscal year.   

 
• Room tax revenues decreased by $3,013,348 due to decreases in hosting of special events. 

 
• Investment earnings increased by $2,113,347 due to increases in the fair market value of investments and 

higher interest rates throughout the fiscal year. 
 

Financial Analysis of the Authority’s Funds 
 

• At June 30, 2025, the Authority’s governmental funds reported a combined ending fund balance of 
$178,245,704, a decrease of $19,868,876. 
 

• Fund balance components have been classified as nonspendable, restricted, and unassigned based on 
the extent to which the Authority is bound to observe constraints imposed on the use of fund resources.  
 

• Nonspendable fund balance was $26,833 and consists of prepaid expenses. 
 



 

 10 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2025 
 
 

• $177,762,185 of fund balance is restricted. Spending of these resources is constrained either by 
externally imposed (statutory, bond covenant, or grantors) limitations on their use or imposed by law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Restricted fund balances include $66,420,580 
for capital projects, and $111,341,605 for debt service. 

 
• Unassigned fund balance was $456,686. 

 
• The Football Stadium Fund is the main operating fund of the Authority. The fund balance increased by 

$18,308,746 from $45,725,224 to $64,033,970. 
 

• The fund balance of the Football Stadium Debt Service Fund increased by $4,521,413 mainly due to 
transfers of room taxes for debt service payments. 

 
• The fund balance of the Football Stadium Capital Projects Fund decreased by $2,961,283 due to capital 

expenditures.  
 

Budgetary Highlights 
 

• The Football Stadium Fund’s actual room tax revenue was higher than the final budget by $1,450,443 
primarily due to higher room tax revenue than expected for the fiscal year. 
 

• The Football Stadium Fund’s actual total expenditures and other financing uses were $4,674,928 less 
than the final budget, primarily due to lower transfers to other funds than expected for the fiscal year. 
 



 

 11 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Capital Assets 
 
The Authority’s investment in capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation at June 30, 2025, was 
$1,588,444,250. Major additions during the fiscal year were for improvements to Allegiant Stadium. Detail by 
type of assets is summarized in the table below. 
 

Capital Assets 
June 30, 2025 and 2024 

2025 2024

Land and improvements 96,817,575$          97,047,856$         
Construction in progress 4,165,425              3,198,281              
Allegiant Stadium 1,371,339,810      1,424,619,459      
Football Stadium scoreboard 15,954,527            19,093,123           
Football Stadium Wi-Fi 8,504,121              10,177,063           
Football Stadium FF&E 91,662,792            109,092,226         

1,588,444,250$    1,663,228,008$    

Capital Assets

 
$4,986,687 of capital contributions were received in the current year, and were capitalized as additions to 
Allegiant Stadium and Stadium FF&E. 
 
For additional information on the Authority’s capital assets see note 4 in the accompanying financial statements. 
 
Long-Term Debt 
 
On May 1, 2018, on behalf of the Authority, Clark County, Nevada issued Clark County, Nevada General 
Obligation (Limited Tax) Stadium Improvement Bonds (Additionally Secured with Pledged Revenues) Series 
2018A.  The proceeds are being used to (i) acquire, construct, lease, improve or equip or any combination 
thereof, within the boundaries of the stadium district a football stadium capable of hosting the home games of 
the National Football League team; (ii) fund a debt service reserve fund for the Bonds; (iii) fund a capitalized 
interest fund; and (iv) pay the costs of issuing the Bonds. Interest payments are paid semiannually beginning 
December 1, 2018, with an interest rate ranging from 4.0% to 5.0%.  Principal will be paid annually beginning 
June 1, 2019.  The bonds mature on May 1, 2048. 
 

Outstanding Debt 
June 30, 2025 and 2024 

2025 2024

Revenue backed general obligation bonds 695,981,564$        705,443,968$       

Outstanding Debt

 



 

 12 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Economic Factors 
 
Tourism is the largest industry and economic driver in Southern Nevada, accounting for one-fifth of direct 
economic activity. Las Vegas is the home of 18 of the 20 largest hotels in the United States. Southern Nevada 
has a hotel room inventory exceeding 160,000, with over 150,000 of those rooms located in the Las Vegas 
metropolitan area. 
 
The Authority received record room tax revenues in fiscal year 2025, marking a slight decrease compared to the 
previous year. The Authority’s room tax collections of $63.5 million decreased 4.5% from the previous record-
setting FY 2024 amount of $66.5 million. 
 
Las Vegas is performing well economically, with total higher visitor spending despite lower overall visitation 
compared to pre-pandemic levels. Visitation increased in the calendar year 2024 by 2.1%, from 40.8 million to 
41.7 million. In calendar year 2024, occupancy increased from 83.5% to 83.6%, and average daily room rates 
(ADR) increased by 1.0% to $193.16  
 
Visitation and room rates have decreased this calendar year, with October year-to-date 2025 calendar year 
visitation decreasing 7.6% compared to October 2024. Hotel year-to-date occupancy has decreased to 80.8%, a 
3.1-point decrease, and ADR was $182.58, a 5.2% decrease, both compared to the prior year-to-date. 
 
Las Vegas is known for continually reinventing itself to deliver on the brand promise of being the premier 
destination in the world. The $2 billion dollar baseball park that will be the future home of the Major League 
Baseball Stadium has begun construction on Las Vegas Boulevard with a planned opening date in Spring 2028.  
The current Hard Rock Hotel & Casino project on the Las Vegas Strip is a full redevelopment of the former 
Mirage anchored by a 700-foot, guitar-shaped tower, scheduled to open in late 2027. 
 
Requests for Information 
 
Questions concerning the information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information 
should be addressed to Las Vegas Stadium Authority c/o Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority at 3150 
Paradise Road, Las Vegas, NV 89109.



eidebailly.com

Basic Financial Statements 
June 30, 2025 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
Clark County, Nevada 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   13 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2025 
 
 

Governmental
Activities

Assets

Cash and investments
In custody of the County Treasurer 76,912,777$            
In custody of other officials 149,991                    
With fiscal agent 96,987,606              

Interest receivable 823,798                    
Room taxes receivable 4,792,994                
Prepaid expenses 26,833                      
Capital assets not being depreciated 81,945,553              
Capital assets being depreciated,

net of accumulated depreciation 1,506,498,697

Total assets 1,768,138,249$      

Liabilities

Accounts payable 213,406$                  
Due to other government 1,234,889                
Accrued interest 2,544,283                
Long-term liabilities

Bonds payable, due within one year 7,230,000                
Bonds payable, due after one year 688,751,564

Total liabilities 699,974,142            

Net Position

Net investment in capital assets 914,690,231
Restricted

Capital projects 66,420,580
Debt service 86,569,776

Unrestricted 483,520

Total net position 1,068,164,107$      
 

 
 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   14 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Statement of Activities 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 
 
 

Net (Expenses)
Revenues and

Changes in
Net Position

Program Revenues Program Revenues Primary Government
Charges for Capital Grants

Expenses Services and Contributions Governmental Activities
Governmental Activities:

General government 94,393,968$               -$                                      4,986,687$                      (89,407,281)$                  
Interest expense 28,031,059 -                                        -                                        (28,031,059)                     

Total governmental
activities 122,425,027$             -$                                      4,986,687$                      (117,438,340)                  

General Revenues
Room taxes 63,450,443                      
Investment earnings 8,560,706                        

Total general revenues 72,011,149                      

Change in Net Position (45,427,191)                     

Net Position, Beginning of Year 1,113,591,298                

Net Position, End of Year 1,068,164,107$              
 

 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   15 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Balance Sheet Governmental Funds 

June 30, 2025 
 
 

Football Football Stadium Football Stadium Total
Stadium Fund Debt Capital Projects Governmental
 (GAAP Basis) Service Fund Fund Funds

Assets

Cash and investments
In custody of the County

Treasurer 69,959,031$    4,098,379$        2,855,367$        76,912,777$    
In custody of other officials -                         -                           149,991             149,991            
With fiscal agent -                         96,987,606        -                          96,987,606      

Interest receivable 361,706            447,330              14,762               823,798            
Due from other funds -                         9,808,290          -                          9,808,290         
Room taxes receivable 4,792,994         -                           -                          4,792,994         
Prepaid expenses 26,833              -                           -                          26,833              

Total assets 75,140,564$    111,341,605$    3,020,120$        189,502,289$  

Liabilities

Accounts payable 63,415$            -$                         149,991$           213,406$          
Due to other government 1,234,889         -                           -                          1,234,889         
Due to other funds 9,808,290         -                           -                          9,808,290         

Total liabilities 11,106,594      -                           149,991             11,256,585      

Fund balances

Nonspendable 26,833              -                           -                          26,833              
Restricted

Capital projects 63,550,451      -                           2,870,129          66,420,580      
Debt service -                         111,341,605      -                          111,341,605    

Unassigned 456,686 -                           -                          456,686            

Total fund balances 64,033,970      111,341,605      2,870,129          178,245,704    

Total liabilities and fund
balances 75,140,564$    111,341,605$    3,020,120$        189,502,289$  

 
 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   16 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet to the Statement of Net Position 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Total fund balance - governmental funds 178,245,704$     

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net
position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the fund
financial statements, but are reported in the governmental activities
on the statement of net position.

Capital assets not being depreciated 81,945,553$     
Capital assets being depreciated,

net of accumulated depreciation 1,506,498,697  
1,588,444,250    

Long-term liabilities and deferred outflows and inflows of resources, such
as general obligation bonds and loans payable are not due and payable in the 
current period and are not included in the fund financial statements, but are
included in the governmental activities on the statement of net position.

Bonds payable (695,981,564)    
(695,981,564)      

Accrued interest payable (2,544,283)           

Total net position - governmental activities 1,068,164,107$  
 

 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   17 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances Governmental Funds 

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 
 
 

Football Football Stadium Football Stadium Total
Stadium Fund Debt Capital Projects Governmental
 (GAAP Basis) Service Fund Fund Funds

Revenues
Room taxes 63,450,443$      -$                         -$                         63,450,443$     
Investment earnings 2,576,504          5,674,670           309,532              8,560,706          

Total revenues 66,026,947        5,674,670           309,532              72,011,149        
      
Expenditures

General government 4,963,772 249                      -                           4,964,021          
Capital outlay -                           -                            1,387,447           1,387,447          
Capital outlay - not capitalized -                           -                            8,272,055           8,272,055          
Debt service

Principal -                           6,170,000           -                           6,170,000          
Interest -                           31,348,750         -                           31,348,750        

Total expenditures 4,963,772          37,518,999         9,659,502           52,142,273        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues 
over (under) Expenditures 61,063,175        (31,844,329)        (9,349,970)         19,868,876        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds -                           36,365,742         6,388,687           42,754,429        
Transfers to other funds (42,754,429)       -                            -                           (42,754,429)      

Total other financing 
sources and uses (42,754,429)       36,365,742         6,388,687           -                          

Net Change in Fund Balances 18,308,746        4,521,413           (2,961,283)         19,868,876        

Fund balances, Beginning of Year 45,725,224        106,820,192 5,831,412           158,376,828     

Fund balances, End of Year 64,033,970$      111,341,605$    2,870,129$         178,245,704$   
 

 



 

See Notes to Financial Statements   18 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and  

Changes in Fund Balances to the Statement of Activities 
For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2025 

 
 
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds 19,868,876$       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of
activities are different because:

Governmental funds report outlays for capital assets as expenditures
because such outlays use current financial resources. In contrast, the 
statement of activities reports only a portion of the outlay as expense.  
The outlay is allocated over the assets’ estimated useful lives as 
depreciation expense for the period. The Authority utilizes a 
capital projects fund to construct the Football stadium projects.

Capital outlay 1,387,447$      
Capital contributions 4,986,687         
Less current year depreciation (81,157,892)     

(74,783,758)        

Governmental funds report bond proceeds as current financial 
resources. In contrast, the statement of activities treats such issuance 
of debt as a liability. Governmental funds report repayment of bond 
principal as an expenditure. In contrast the statement of activities
treats such repayments as a reduction in long-term liabilities. 

Principal payments 6,170,000         
6,170,000            

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require
the use of current financial resources and these are not reported as
expenditures in governmental funds.

Change in accrued interest 25,287
Amortization of bond premiums 3,292,404

3,317,691            

Change in net position of governmental activities (45,427,191)$      
 

 
 



 

19 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Note 1 -  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 
The Reporting Entity 
 
The Clark County Stadium Authority, dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority (the “Authority”) was created on 
October 17, 2016, by Senate Bill 1 during the 30th Special Session of the Nevada State Legislature to provide a 
pathway for the construction, development and operation of an NFL stadium in Clark County, Nevada. The 
Authority is also responsible for the ownership and oversight of the Major League Baseball stadium project 
created by Senate Bill 1 during the 35th Special Session of the Nevada State legislature in June 2023. 
 
The organization and funding of the Authority are governed by Senate Bill 1. The Authority is government by an 
thirteen-member governing board (the “Board”); three members are appointed by the Governor, two members 
are appointed by the Clark County Commission, one member is appointed by the Majority Leader of the Senate, 
one member is appointed by the Speaker of the Assembly, one member is appointed by the President of the 
University of Nevada, Las Vegas, three members are elected by the appointed members, and two members are 
nonvoting, Ex-Officio board members. 
 
The football stadium is funded by a 0.88 percent tax on rooms rented on the Strip and some adjacent areas to 
the west and south, and a 0.5 percent tax on rooms within the remainder of the Authority district as defined in 
Senate Bill 1. In addition, the Sports and Entertainment Improvement District (SEID) provides a second source of 
funding through existing taxes and fees collected within the district—including sales and use tax, modified 
business tax, insurance premium tax, commerce tax, live entertainment tax, liquor tax, transportation 
connection tax, exhibition fees, personal property taxes, franchise fees for provision of electricity, gas, 
telecommunications or video, and business license fees. These SEID revenues are dedicated to baseball stadium-
related costs, including design, construction, operations, and repayment of bonds issued for the project, with 
collections anticipated to begin in fiscal year 2026. 
 
The Authority is an integral part of the Clark County (the “County”), Nevada financial reporting entity and as 
such they are financially accountable and, the Authority is considered a component unit of the County. The 
accounting policies of the Authority conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America as applicable to governmental entities. 
 
Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of activities) 
report information on all of the activities of the Authority. The effect of interfund activity has been removed 
from these statements. 
 
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function are offset 
by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. 
Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from 
goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are 
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and 
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.  



 

20 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds. All governmental funds are considered to 
be major funds and they are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 
 
Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 
 
Government-Wide Financial Statements 
 
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability 
is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as 
soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been met. 
 
Amounts reported as program revenues include charges to customers or applicants for goods, services, or 
privileges provided. Internally dedicated resources are reported as general revenues rather than as program 
revenues. Likewise, general revenues include all taxes. 
 
Governmental Fund Financial Statements 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus 
and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and 
available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current year or within 90 
days after year-end. Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual 
accounting. However, debt service expenditures are recorded only when payment is due. 
 
Room taxes and interest revenue associated with the current fiscal year are considered to be susceptible to 
accrual and have been recognized as revenues in the current year. 
 
The Authority reports the following major governmental funds: 
 
Football Stadium Fund – this is the general operating fund of the football stadium. The operating fund is used to 
account for all resources and cost of operations traditionally associated with governments, which are not 
accounted for and reported in other funds. 
 
Football Stadium Debt Service Fund - this fund is used to account for the payment of principal and interest, and 
the cost of operations associated with the debt service for the football stadium’s general obligation debt. 
 
Football Stadium Capital Projects Fund - this fund was used to account for the costs of constructing the football 
stadium paid from bond proceeds, room tax revenues, and interest earnings, in addition to account for on-going 
capital asset activity. 
 
Baseball Stadium Fund – this is the general operating fund of the baseball stadium. The operating fund is used to 
account for all resources and cost of operations traditionally associated with governments, which are not 
accounted for and reported in other funds. 



 

21 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Baseball Stadium Debt Service Fund - this fund was created to account for the payment of principal and interest, 
and the cost of operations associated with the debt service for the baseball stadium’s general obligation debt. 
 
Baseball Stadium Capital Projects Fund - this fund was created to account for the costs of constructing the 
baseball stadium paid from bond proceeds, SEID revenues, and interest earnings, in addition to account for on-
going capital asset activity.  There was no activity for this fund during the year. 
 
Assets, Liabilities, and Net Position or Equity 
 
Cash and Investments 
 
The majority of all cash and investment transactions of the Authority are either held in the Clark County 
Investment Pool or with a fiscal agent. The investments held with a fiscal agent are invested by third-party 
trustees in various securities. The remaining cash and investment transactions of the Authority are handled by 
the Clark County Treasurer’s office. Cash balances are combined and invested as permitted by law in 
combination with Clark County funds. Investments are reported at fair value on the balance sheet and 
statement of net position. Changes in the fair value of investments are included in investment income of the 
individual funds. 
 
Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between 
willing parties other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Changes in the fair value of Authority investments are 
part of interest earnings of the individual fund. 
 
Accounts Receivable 
 
The accounts receivable are shown net of any provision for doubtful accounts. Room tax revenues are due from 
various jurisdictions throughout Southern Nevada are paid approximately two months in arrears. 
 
The Authority does not have an allowance for doubtful accounts. 
 
Prepaid Expenses 
 
Prepaid expenses are recognized as an expenditure in the period that payment is made under the purchase 
method. 
 
Capital Assets 
 
Capital assets are recorded at cost or the acquisition value on the date of donation. Expenditures for renewals 
and improvements that significantly add to the productive capacity or extend the useful life of an asset are 
capitalized. Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense. When equipment is retired or 
sold, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are eliminated from the accounts and the resultant gain or 
loss is reflected in the statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position. 



 

22 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Depreciation is provided using the straight‐line method, based on useful lives of the assets which range from 
three to thirty years. 
 
The Authority reviews its property and equipment whenever events indicate that the carrying amount of the 
asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recorded when the sum of the future cash flows is 
materially less than the carrying amount of the asset. An impairment loss is measured as the amount by which 
the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. No impairments occurred in fiscal year 2025. 
 
Long-Term Obligations 
 
In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as prepaid bond insurance and deferred losses, are deferred 
and amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight-line method. Bonds payable are reported net of the 
applicable bond premium or discount. 
 
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as 
bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing 
sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources whereas discounts on 
debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual 
debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 
 
Net Position or Equity 
 
In the government-wide statements, equity is classified as net position and displayed in three components: 
 

• Net investment in capital assets – Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by the 
outstanding balances of any bonds, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the acquisition, 
construction, or improvement of those assets net of unspent financing proceeds. 

• Restricted net position – Net position with constraints placed on their use that are either (a) externally 
imposed by creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) imposed 
by law through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

• Unrestricted net position – All other net position that does not meet the definition of “restricted” or “net 
investment in capital assets.” 

 
In the fund financial statements, the classifications of fund balance represent amounts that are not subject to 
appropriation or are legally segregated for a specific purpose. The following classifications have been 
implemented by the Authority: 
 

• Nonspendable – amounts that are not in spendable form (such as inventory and prepaids) or are legally or 
contractually required to be maintained intact. 

• Restricted – amounts constrained to specific purposes by external providers (such as grantors, 
bondholders, and higher levels of government), through constitutional provisions, or by enabling 
legislation.



 

23 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 

• Committed – amounts constrained to specific purposes by the Authority itself, using its highest level of 
decision-making authority, the Stadium Authority Board of Directors (the Board). To be reported as 
committed, the Board must take formal action, via entering into interlocal agreements or professional 
service contracts, prior to the end of the reporting period. Amounts cannot be used for any other purpose 
unless the Board takes the same formal action to remove or change the constraint. 

• Assigned – amounts the Authority intends to use for a specific purpose. These assignments, however, are 
not legally binding and are meant to reflect intended future uses of the Authority's ending fund balance. 
The Board has authority to assign amounts of ending fund balance. 

• Unassigned – amounts that are available for any purpose. Positive amounts are reported only in the 
Football Stadium Fund. 

 
When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is 
available, the Authority considers restricted funds to have been spent first. Sometimes the Authority will fund 
outlays for a particular purpose from both restricted (e.g., restricted bond or grant proceeds) and unrestricted 
resources. In order to calculate the amounts to report as restricted net position and unrestricted net position in 
the government‐wide financial statements, a flow assumption must be made about the order in which the 
resources are considered to be applied. It is the Authority’s policy to consider restricted net position to have 
been depleted before unrestricted net position is applied. When an expenditure is incurred for which 
committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available, the Authority considers amounts to have been 
spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed. 
 
 
Note 2 -  Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability 
 
Compliance with Nevada Revised Statutes 
 
Per NRS 354.626, no governmental agency may expend or contract to expend funds in excess of amounts 
appropriated for that function. The Authority is required to report and explain expenditures or contracts to 
expend that exceeded budgeted appropriations for the Football Stadium Fund, Special Revenue, and Capital 
Project Funds.  
 
As of June 30, 2025, the Authority conformed to all significant statutory and legal constraints on its financial 
administration during the year with the following possible exception: 
 
NRS 354.624 Section 5 states each local government shall provide to its auditor a statement indicating whether 
certain funds are being used expressly for the purposes for which it was created under NRS 354.612.  During our 
audit we noted the Football Stadium Fund incurred costs that were not in accordance with the purpose of the 
fund.  This fund incurred expenditures totaling $649,406 which were related to the baseball stadium project. 
This resulted in an apparent violation of NRS 354.624 and 354.612. 
 



 

24 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Note 3 -  Cash and Investments 
 
All cash and investments of the Authority are included in the investment pool of the Clark County Treasurer (the 
“Treasurer”) and the Authority’s trustees and the Bank of New York Mellon. As of June 30, 2025,  
these amounts are distributed as follows: 
 

Cash and investments held in Clark County Investment Pool 76,912,777$        
In custody of other officials 149,991               
Cash with fiscal agents 96,987,606          

Grand total 174,050,374$     

 
Clark County Investment Pool 
 
The Treasurer invests monies held both by individual funds and through a pooling of monies. The pooled 
monies, referred to as the investment pool, are invested as a combination of monies from each fund belonging 
to the pool. In this manner, the Treasurer is able to invest the monies at a higher interest rate for a longer period 
of time. Interest is apportioned monthly to each fund in the pool based on the average daily cash balance of the 
fund for the month in which the investments mature.  
 
According to state statutes, County monies must be deposited with federally insured banks and savings and loan 
associations within the County. The Treasurer is authorized to use demand accounts, time accounts, and 
certificates of deposit. 
 
State statutes does specifically require collateral for demand deposits and specify that collateral for time 
deposits may be of the same type as those described for permissible state investments. Permissible state 
investments are similar to allowable County investments described below except that some state investments 
are longer term and include securities issued by municipalities within the State of Nevada. 
 
Due to the nature of the investment pool, it is not possible to separately identify any specific investment as 
being that of the Authority. Instead, the Authority owns a proportionate share of each investment, based on the 
Authority’s participation percentage in the investment pool.  
 
Interest Rate Risk 
 
Through its investment policy, the County manages its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing 
interest rates by limiting the average weighted maturity of the investment portfolio to less than 3.5 years. The 
County’s investment policy limits investment portfolio maturities for certain investment instruments as follows: 
U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies to ten years; bankers’ acceptances to 180 days maturity; commercial paper to 
270 days maturity; certificates of deposit to 5 years maturity; corporate notes, bonds and supranational 
obligation to 5 years maturity; and repurchase agreements to 7 days maturity. 
 



 

25 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Interest Rate Sensitivity 
 
Interest rate sensitive securities include floating rate, callable, asset-backed, and mortgage-backed securities. As 
interest rates change, these types of securities may be redeemed early or the coupon rate may change.  
 
At June 30, 2025, the County invested in asset-backed securities, corporate obligations and federal agency 
obligations which have a higher sensitivity to interest rates. 
 
Credit Risk 
 
The County’s investment policy applies the prudent-investor standard: “When investing, reinvesting, purchasing, 
acquiring, exchanging, selling or managing public funds, a trustee shall act with care, skill, prudence, and 
diligence under the circumstances then prevailing, including, but not limited to, the general economic conditions 
and the anticipated needs of the agency, that a prudent investor acting in a like capacity and familiarity with 
those matters would use in the conduct of funds of a like character and with like aims, to safeguard the principal 
and maintain the liquidity needs of the agency.” 
 
Concentrations of Credit Risk 
 
Concentration of credit risk is defined as the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s 
investment in a single issuer. The County’s investment policy limits the amount that may be invested in 
obligations of any one issuer, except direct obligations of the U.S. government or federal agencies or 
supranational securities, to no more than five percent of the Clark County investment pool. 
 
GASB 31, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Certain Investments and for External Investment Pools 
 
GASB Statement No. 31 requires the County to adjust the carrying amount of its investment portfolio to reflect 
the change in fair or market values. Interest revenue is increased or decreased in relation to this adjustment of 
unrealized gain or loss. Net interest income in the funds reflects this positive or negative market value 
adjustment. 
 
 



 

26 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Trustee Cash 
 
The Authority utilizes a Trustee’s to service their debt and capital outlay, Bank of New York Mellon. 
 
As of June 30, 2025, the $96,987,606 held by the Trustees were invested in short-term investments with entities 
as indicated in the tables below: 
 

Fair Value
Investment Type June 30, 2025 Less than 1 1 to 3 Years

United States Treasury Notes 52,909,400$             52,909,400$             -$                                
Morgan Stanley Money Market Funds 44,078,206               44,078,206               -                                  

96,987,606$             96,987,606$             -$                                

Investment Ratings Moody's S&P
United States Treasury Bills P-1 A-1
United States Treasury Notes Aa AA
Morgan Stanley Money Market Funds Aaa AAA

Investment Maturities (in Years)

 
 



 

27 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Note 4 -  Capital Assets 
 
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2025 was as follows: 
 

Balance Balance
June 30, 2024 Increases Decreases June 30, 2025

Capital assets not being depreciated
Land 77,780,128$          -$                        -$                        77,780,128$          
Construction in progress 3,198,281              3,415,425          (2,448,281)        4,165,425              

Total capital assets not being
depreciated 80,978,409 3,415,425 (2,448,281)        81,945,553

Capital assets being depreciated
Allegiant Stadium 1,636,141,545       1,343,516          -                          1,637,485,061       
Land improvements 22,066,741            524,769             -                          22,591,510            
Football Stadium scoreboard 31,385,957            -                          -                          31,385,957            
Football Stadium Wi-Fi 16,729,419            -                          -                          16,729,419            
Football Stadium FF&E 174,426,079          3,538,705          -                          177,964,784          

Total capital assets being
depreciated 1,880,749,741       5,406,990          -                          1,886,156,731       

Less accumulated depreciation for
Allegiant Stadium 211,522,086          54,623,165       -                          266,145,251          
Land improvements 2,799,013              755,050             -                          3,554,063              
Football Stadium scoreboard 12,292,834            3,138,596          -                          15,431,430            
Football Stadium Wi-Fi 6,552,356              1,672,942          -                          8,225,298              
Football Stadium FF&E 65,333,853            20,968,139       -                          86,301,992            

Total accumulated depreciation 298,500,142 81,157,892 -                          379,658,034          

Total capital assets being 
depreciated, net 1,582,249,599       (75,750,902)      -                          1,506,498,697       

Governmental activities capital 
assets, net 1,663,228,008$    (72,335,477)$    (2,448,281)$      1,588,444,250$    

 



 

28 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Note 5 -  Interfund Balances and Transfers 
 
The composition of interfund balances at June 30, 2025 is as follows: 
 

Amount

Football Stadium Debt Service Fund 9,808,290$      

Receivable Fund Payable Fund

Football Stadium Fund
 

These balances result from the time lag between the dates that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or 
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2) transactions are recorded in the accounting system and (3) payments 
between funds are made. 
 
Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2025, consisted of the following: 
 

Transfers Out
Transfers In: General Fund

Football Stadium Debt Service Fund 36,365,742$    
Football Stadium Capital Projects Fund 6,388,687         

42,754,429$    

 
Transfers are used to (1) move revenues from the fund that statute or budget requires to collect them to the 
fund that statute or budget requires to expend them, (2) move receipts restricted to debt service from the funds 
collecting the receipts to the debt service fund as debt service payments become due, and (3) use unrestricted 
revenues collected in the Football Stadium Fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in 
accordance with budgetary authorization. 
 
 
Note 6 -  Long-Term Liabilities 
 
Bonds payable at June 30, 2025, are comprised of the following bonds: 
 

Date of
Date Final Interest Original Balance

Purpose Issued Maturity Rate Amount June 30, 2025

2018A Construction 05/01/18 05/01/48 4.00-5.00% 645,145,000$       620,805,000$       

Total general obligation bonds 645,145,000$       620,805,000$       

Series



 

29 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Summary of Debt Service – The annual debt service requirements to maturity are as follows: 
 

Total Principal Total Interest Total

2026 7,230,000$           31,040,250$         38,270,250$         
2027 8,355,000             30,678,750           39,033,750           
2028 9,555,000             30,261,000           39,816,000           
2029 10,830,000           29,783,250           40,613,250           
2030 12,180,000           29,241,750           41,421,750           
2031-2035 84,315,000           135,567,500         219,882,500         
2036-2040 132,840,000         109,917,000         242,757,000         
2041-2045 197,420,000         70,612,500           268,032,500         
2046-2048 158,080,000         15,952,792           174,032,792         

620,805,000$      483,054,792$      1,103,859,792$   

Year ending June 30,

 
There are a number of limitations and restrictions contained in the bond indentures. The Authority is in 
compliance with all significant limitations and restrictions. 
 
Pledged Revenues 
 
The Authority has pledged future receipts from the levy of the room taxes imposed pursuant to Section 33 of 
the Act and the Room Tax Ordinance. The total principal and interest remaining to be paid on the bonds is 
$1,103,859,792. Principal and interest paid for the current year and pledged revenues received were as follows: 
 
Pledged revenues - room taxes 63,450,443$    
Debt service 37,518,750      
Coverage 1.69                   

 
Changes in Long-Term Liabilities: 
 

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Reductions Balance One Year

Bonds payable:
General obligation bonds 626,975,000$  -$                       (6,170,000)$     620,805,000$    7,230,000$    
Plus: issuance premiums 78,468,968      -                         (3,292,404)       75,176,564         -                      

Total long-term liabilities 705,443,968$  -$                       (9,462,404)$     695,981,564$    7,230,000$    
 

 



 

30 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Financial Statements 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Note 7 -  Commitments 
 
In March 2018, the Authority approved a series of documents related to the construction and operation of the 
baseball stadium project. These agreements are primarily between the Authority and LV Stadium Events 
Company LLC (“StadCo”), the developer and operator of the stadium, as well as other entities. The agreements 
include, but are not limited to, the following: the Stadium Development Agreement, generally relating to the 
funding and construction of the stadium project; the Stadium Lease Agreement, generally relating to the 
operation of the stadium upon completion; the Construction Funds Trust Agreement and the Stadium Disbursing 
Agreement, generally relating to the management and disbursement of project funds; the Authority PSL Account 
Agreement, the PSL Sales and Marketing Agreement and the Purchase and Sale Agreement, generally relating to 
the marketing, sales and revenues of personal seat licenses; and other legal agreements related to various 
aspects of the project. 
 
Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1), the Southern Nevada Tourism 
Innovation Act, was signed into law in June 2023. SB1 provides for the financing, development, and operation of 
a major league baseball stadium in Clark County. Development and Lease agreements were approved in 
December 2024. 
 
 
Note 8 -  Related Party Transactions 
 
Clark County acts as the fiscal agent for the Authority, and the Las Vegas Convention and Visitors Authority (the 
“LVCVA”) provides administrative services to the Authority. As of June 30, 2025, the Authority incurred expenses 
of $36,000 for services provided by the County and $157,749 for services provided by LVCVA. These transactions 
were conducted in the normal course of operations. 
 
 
Note 9 -  Subsequent Events 
 
The Authority has evaluated subsequent events through December 15, 2025, the date which the financial 
statements were available to be issued. 
 



eidebailly.com

 

 

Required Supplementary Information 
June 30, 2025 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
Clark County, Nevada 
 



 

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.  31 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Football Stadium Fund  

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget (Budgetary Basis) and Actual 
For the year ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance
Revenues

Intergovernmental revenue
Room taxes 62,000,000$     62,000,000$   63,450,443$   1,450,443$     

Investment earnings 349,223             349,223           2,029,232        1,680,009        

Total revenues 62,349,223       62,349,223     65,479,675     3,130,452        

Expenditures
General government

Service and supplies 2,665,387          2,665,387        1,353,091 (1,312,296)      

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 59,683,836       59,683,836     64,126,584     4,442,748        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds -                          500,000           -                        (500,000)          
Transfers to other funds (93,682,178)      (97,518,369)    (94,155,737)    3,362,632        

Total other financing
sources (uses) (93,682,178)      (97,018,369)    (94,155,737)    2,862,632        

Net Change in Fund Balance (33,998,342)      (37,334,533)    (30,029,153)    7,305,380        

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 33,998,342       37,791,478     37,791,478     -                        

Fund Balances, End of Year -$                        456,945$         7,762,325$     7,305,380$     

2025

 
 
 
 
 



 

See Notes to Required Supplementary Information.  32 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
 Reconciliation of the Football Stadium Fund Budgetary Information to the Football Stadium Fund (GAAP Basis) 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
For the year ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Football Stadium Fund
as reported on 
statement of 

revenues,
Waterfall UNLV expenditures and 

Football Residual Fund Contribution Fund changes in fund
Stadium Fund (Internally (Internally balances

(Budgetary Basis) Reported) Reported) Eliminations (GAAP Basis)
Revenues

Intergovernmental revenue
Room taxes 63,450,443$    -$                       -$                       -$                       63,450,443$                

Investment earnings 2,029,232        547,272            -                         -                         2,576,504                     

Total revenues 65,479,675      547,272            -                         -                         66,026,947                  

Expenditures
General government

Service and supplies 1,353,091        -                         3,610,681        -                         4,963,772                     

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures 64,126,584      547,272            (3,610,681)       -                         61,063,175                  

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds -                         47,790,627      3,610,681        (51,401,308)     -                                     
Transfers to other funds (94,155,737)     -                         -                         51,401,308      (42,754,429)                 

Total other financing 
sources (uses) (94,155,737)     47,790,627      3,610,681        -                         (42,754,429)                 

Net Change in Fund Balance (30,029,153)     48,337,899      -                         -                         18,308,746                  

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 37,791,478      7,933,746 -                         -                         45,725,224                  

Fund Balances, End of Year 7,762,325$      56,271,645$    -$                       -$                       64,033,970$                
 

 



 

33 
 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Notes to Required Supplementary Information 

June 30, 2025 
 
 
Note 1 -  Budgetary Information 
 
The Authority uses the following procedures to establish, modify, and control the budgetary data presented in 
the financial statements: 
 

a.  Prior to April 15, the Authority Board submits to the Nevada State Department of Taxation the tentative 
budget for the next fiscal year, commencing on July 1. The budget as submitted contains the proposed 
expenditures and means of financing them. 

b. The Nevada State Department of Taxation notifies the Authority of its acceptance of the budget. 
c. Public hearings are conducted no sooner than the third Monday in May and no later than the last day in 

May. 
d. After all changes have been noted and hearings closed, the Authority adopts the budget on or before 

June 1. 
e. The Authority’s administrative contractor is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within functions 

or funds, and any other transfers must be approved by the Authority Board. 
f. Increases to a fund’s budget (augmentations) other than by transfers are accomplished through formal 

Authority Board action. 
g. Statutory regulations require budget control to be exercised at the function level within the Stadium 

Authority funds. The Authority administratively exercises control at the budgeted item level within a 
department. 

h. All appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year. Encumbrances are re-appropriated in the ensuing 
fiscal year up to the amount of available opening fund balance. 

i. Budgeted amounts as originally adopted for the year ended June 30, 2025, were augmented for 
additional funds created for the baseball stadium and other Board actions. 

j. Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with the method used to report on governmental funds, 
which are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America. 

 
 

Note 2 -  Reconciliation of the Football Stadium Fund Budgetary Information to the Football 
Stadium Fund GAAP Information 

 
This statement reconciles the Football Stadium Fund as presented for budget purposes to the presentation 
required under the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
 
The accompanying reconciliation of the Football Stadium Fund budgetary information to the Football Stadium 
Fund GAAP information presents balances combined for internal reporting purposes. Budget to actual 
comparisons are presented for the Authority as required by Nevada Revised Statuses. Such budget comparisons 
are required by the State of Nevada Department of Taxation. However, guidance provided in governmental 
accounting standards specify that two internally reported funds of the Authority did not meet the definition of a 
special revenue fund and therefore did not qualify to be presented separately for external reporting purposes. 
The Waterfall Reserve Fund and UNLV Contribution Fund are combined with the Football Stadium Fund for 
external reporting purposes. 



eidebailly.com

 

 

Supplementary Information 
June 30, 2025 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
Clark County, Nevada 
 



 

34 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
 Reconciliation of the Football Stadium Fund Balance Sheet (Budgetary Basis) to the Football Stadium Fund 

Balance Sheet 
(GAAP Basis) – Governmental Funds 

For the year ended June 30, 2025 
 
 

Football Waterfall UNLV Football
Stadium Residual Fund Contribution Fund Stadium 

Fund (Internally (Internally Fund
(Budgetary Basis) Reported) Reported) (GAAP Basis)

Assets

Cash and investments
In custody of the County Treasurer 12,741,939$        55,982,203$    1,234,889$      69,959,031$      

Interest receivable 72,264                  289,442            -                         361,706              
Room taxes receivable 4,792,994            -                         -                         4,792,994          
Prepaid expenses 26,833                  -                         -                         26,833                

Total assets 17,634,030$        56,271,645$    1,234,889$      75,140,564$      

Liabilities

Accounts payable 63,415$                -$                       -$                       63,415$              
Due to other government -                             -                         1,234,889         1,234,889          
Due to other funds 9,808,290            -                         -                         9,808,290          

Total liabilities 9,871,705            -                         1,234,889         11,106,594        

Fund balances

Nonspendable 26,833                  -                         -                         26,833                
Restricted

Capital projects 7,278,806            56,271,645      -                         63,550,451        
Unassigned 456,686                -                         -                         456,686              

Total fund balances 7,762,325            56,271,645      -                         64,033,970        

Total liabilities and fund balances 17,634,030$        56,271,645$    1,234,889$      75,140,564$      
 

 



 

35 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Waterfall Reserve Fund (Internally Reported Fund) 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual 
For the year ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance
Revenues

Investment earnings 134,718$              134,718$          547,272$           412,554$       

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds 56,163,428           50,000,000      47,790,627       (2,209,373)    
Transfers to other funds (63,998,170)         -                         -                          -                      

Total other financing
sources (uses) (7,834,742)            50,000,000      47,790,627       (2,209,373)    

Net Change in Fund Balance (7,700,024)            50,134,718      48,337,899       (1,796,819)    

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 7,700,024             7,933,746         7,933,746          -                      

Fund Balances, End of Year -$                           58,068,464$    56,271,645$     (1,796,819)$  

2025

 
 
 
 
 



 

36 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
UNLV Contribution Fund (Internally Reported Fund) 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual 
For the year ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance
Expenditures

General government
Service and supplies 3,500,000$           3,610,682$        3,610,681$       (1)$                       

Other Financing Sources 
Transfers from other funds 3,500,000             3,610,682          3,610,681          (1)                          

Net Change in Fund Balance -                              -                          -                          -                            

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year -                              -                          -                          -                            

Fund Balances, End of Year -$                           -$                        -$                        -$                          

2025

 
 



 

37 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
Football Stadium Debt Service Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual 
For the year ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance
Revenues

Investment earnings 2,271,669$      2,271,669$      5,674,670$      3,403,001$       

Expenditures
Debt service

Principal 6,170,000         6,170,000         6,170,000         -                          
Interest 31,348,750      31,348,750      31,348,750      -                          
Fees 250                    250                    249                    (1)                        

Total expenditures 37,519,000      37,519,000      37,518,999      (1)                        

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (35,247,331)     (35,247,331)     (31,844,329)     3,403,002          

Other Financing Sources
Transfers from other funds 37,518,750      37,519,000      36,365,742      (1,153,258)        

Net Change in Fund Balance 2,271,419         2,271,669         4,521,413         2,249,744          

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 102,724,392    106,820,192    106,820,192    -                          

Fund Balances, End of Year 104,995,811$  109,091,861$  111,341,605$  2,249,744$       

2025

 
 



 

38 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
 Football Stadium Capital Projects Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual 
For the year ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance
Revenues

Investment earnings 50,000$             83,738$              309,532$           225,794$           

Expenditures
General government

Capital outlay 66,468,320       12,303,837        1,387,447          (10,916,390)       
Capital outlay - non capitalized -                          -                           8,272,055          8,272,055          

Total expenditures 66,468,320       12,303,837        9,659,502          (2,644,335)         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures (66,418,320)      (12,220,099)       (9,349,970)         2,870,129          

Other Financing Sources
Transfers from other funds 60,498,170       6,388,687          6,388,687          -                           

Net Change in Fund Balance (5,920,150)        (5,831,412)         (2,961,283)         2,870,129          

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year 5,920,150          5,831,412          5,831,412          -                           

Fund Balances, End of Year -$                        -$                        2,870,129$        2,870,129$        

2025

 



 

39 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
 Baseball Stadium Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual 
For the year ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance
Intergovernmental Revenues

Other - SEID revenues -$                         4,000,000$              -$                                  (4,000,000)$   

Expenditures
General government

Services and supplies -                           800,000                   -                                    (800,000)         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over (Under) Expenditures -                           3,200,000                -                                    (3,200,000)      

Other Financing Uses
Operating transfers out

Baseball Stadium Debt Service Fund -                           (2,700,000)              -                                    2,700,000       
Football Stadium Fund -                           (500,000)                  -                                    500,000          

Total other financing uses -                           (3,200,000)              -                                    3,200,000       

Net Change in Fund Balance -                           -                                -                                    -                        

Fund Balances, Beginning of Year -                           -                                -                                    -                        

Fund Balances, End of Year -$                         -$                              -$                                  -$                     

2025

 
 
 



 

40 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 

Clark County, Nevada 
 Baseball Stadium Debt Service Fund 

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget and Actual 
For the year ended June 30, 2025 

 
 

Original Budget Final Budget Actual Variance

Other Financing Sources
Transfer from Baseball

Stadium Fund -$                       2,700,000$      -$                       (2,700,000)$  

Net Change in Fund Balance -                         2,700,000         -                         (2,700,000)    

Fund Balances,  Beginning of Year -                         -                         -                         -                      

Fund Balances, End of Year -$                       2,700,000$      -$                       (2,700,000)$  

2025



eidebailly.com

 

 

Comments of Independent Auditors 
June 30, 2025 

Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
Clark County, Nevada 



eidebailly.com
1 Meridian Vista Dr., Ste. 355  •  Las Vegas, NV 89135  •  T 702.304.0405  •  F 702.304.0415  •  EOE

 

41 
 

Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements 

Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 
 
To the Honorable Clark County Stadium Authority,  
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors 
Clark County, Nevada  
 
 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the financial 
statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of the Clark County Stadium Authority, 
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority, Clark County, Nevada (the “Authority”), a component unit of Clark 
County, Nevada, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial 
statements which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial statements and have issued our 
report thereon dated December 15, 2025. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Authority's internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. Accordingly, 
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control. 
 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination 
of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of the Authority’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected 
on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in 
the first paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit 
we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 



42 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Authority’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Las Vegas, Nevada 
December 15, 2025 



eidebailly.com
1 Meridian Vista Dr., Ste. 355  •  Las Vegas, NV 89135  •  T 702.304.0405  •  F 702.304.0415  •  EOE

 

43 

Auditor’s Comments 
 
 
To the Honorable Clark County Stadium Authority,  
dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors 
Clark County, Nevada 
 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the governmental activities and the major 
Funds of the Clark County Stadium Authority, dba: Las Vegas Stadium Authority, Clark County, Nevada 
(the “Authority”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2025, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, except as noted below, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the 
Authority failed to comply with the specific requirements of Nevada Revised Statutes cited below. 
However, our audit was not directed primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance. 
Accordingly, had we performed additional procedures, other matters may have come to our attention 
regarding the Authority’s noncompliance with the requirements of Nevada Revised Statutes cited below, 
insofar as they relate to accounting matters. 
 
Current Year Statute Compliance 
 
The required disclosure on compliance with Nevada Revised Statutes and the Nevada Administrative 
Code is contained in Note 2 to the financial statements. 
 
Prior Year Statute Compliance 
 
The Authority conformed to all significant statutory constraints on its financial administration in the 
prior year. 
 
Current Year Recommendations 
 
As described in Note 2 to the financial statements NRS 354.624 Section 5 states each local government 
shall provide to its auditor a statement indicating whether certain funds are being used expressly for the 
purposes for which it was created under NRS 354.612. During our audit we noted the Football Stadium 
Fund incurred costs that were not in accordance with the purpose of the fund.  This fund incurred 
expenditures totaling $649,406 which were related to the baseball stadium project. This resulted in an 
apparent violation of NRS 354.624 and 354.612. 
 
The Football Stadium Fund will be reimbursed once sufficient revenue becomes available from the 
Baseball Stadium Fund, ensuring compliance with statutory requirements and proper fund usage. 
 
 
 
 
Las Vegas, Nevada 
December 15, 2025 



  

 

 

LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER: 2 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDIT FIRM – EIDE BAILLY, LLP 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

That the Board of Directors considers: 1) Approving the reappointment of Eide Bailly, LLP as 
the Stadium Authority’s independent audit firm for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2026, in 
the amount of $45,000; and 2) Authorizing the Chair to execute any necessary agreements. 
 
For possible action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT  

 FY 2026:  $45,000  Expenditure 
 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

  ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

 

    

 
  

Nevada Revised Statutes 354.624 specifies that the Board of Directors must designate an 
audit firm no later than three (3) months before the close of the fiscal year for which the 
annual audit of its financial statements is to be performed. 
 
Eide Bailly has served as the independent audit firm of the Stadium Authority since fiscal 
year 2018. 

  
 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER:  3 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY REVENUE REPORT 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

Stadium Authority staff will provide a report on year-to-date stadium district room tax 
revenues. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 

 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

   

ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

    

 
  

Section 33 of the Southern Nevada Tourism Improvements Act (Senate Bill 1 of the 2016 
30th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature) requires the Board of County 
Commissioners of Clark County to impose, by ordinance, a tax on transient lodging in the 
Stadium District at the rate of: (1) eighty-eight one-hundredths of one percent (0.88%) of the 
gross receipts from the rental of transient lodging located in the primary gaming corridor in 
the Stadium District; and (2) one-half of one percent (0.5%) of the gross receipts from the 
rental of transient lodging in all other areas of the Stadium District (collectively, the Stadium 
District Room Tax). The Stadium District consists of all property located within Clark County, 
including all property within the incorporated cities within a radius of 25 miles from the Clark 
County Government Center. 
 
 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER: 4  

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
STADIUM ACTIVITY REPORT FOURTH QUARTER 2025 – 
ALLEGIANT STADIUM 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

Las Vegas Stadium Events Company (StadCo) staff will provide a stadium activity report for 
Allegiant Stadium’s fourth quarter of calendar year 2025. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 

 
 
 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

   

ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

    

 
  

Section 7.4(a) of the Stadium Lease Agreement between StadCo and the Authority requires 
that StadCo provides data and other information on activities taking place at Allegiant 
Stadium, including (i) the number of events and event attendance, segmented by event and 
(ii) stadium employment.  The report of such stadium activities is included in the supporting 
materials to this agenda item. 
 
StadCo staff will provide a presentation to the Board. 
 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



LV S TADIUM EVENTS COMPANY, LLC • 3333 AL DAVIS WAY, LAS VEGAS, NV 89118  

 

 

 

 

February 13, 2026 
 
 
 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority 
Attn: Ed Finger 
3150 Paradise Road 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89109 
 

RE: Stadium Activity Reporting, Data, and Information | Q4 2025  
 
Dear Mr. Finger:  
 
LV Stadium Events Company, LLC (“StadCo”) is party to the Stadium Lease Agreement between StadCo 
and Clark County Stadium Authority (“Authority”), dated March 28, 2018 (“Lease”) for the construction, 
development, and operation of Allegiant Stadium. Section 7.4 of the Lease requires that StadCo provide 
data and other information on activities taking place at Allegiant Stadium, including (i) the number of 
events and event attendance, segmented by event and (ii) stadium employment. 
 
The attachments to this transmittal letter provide both required deliverables. Attachment A1 summarizes 
the number of events and event attendance by type, by quarter, and Attachment A2 provides a detailed 
list of events and event attendance, segmented by event for the fourth quarter of 2025. Attachment B1 
provides the quarterly employment staffing, including filled and open positions through the fourth quarter 
of 2025.  
 
Should you have any questions regarding these data, or should you require anything further, please never 
hesitate to call or write. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Adam Feldman 
Las Vegas Raiders, Vice President, Ticket and Sales Operations 
StadCo Representative 

 

 



Attachment A1

LV Stadium Event Company, LLC
Events at Allegiant Stadium | Event Summary

Period  NFL Game 
 UNLV 
Game  Concert 

 Other 
Ticketed 

Event 
 Private 
Event  Total  NFL Game 

 UNLV 
Game  Concert 

 Other 
Ticketed 

Event 
 Private 
Event  Total 

Q4 2025 6                   4             1             2             25           38     326,033      74,271     42,926        64,418        23,961     531,609      
Q3 2025 3                   2             5             2             27           39     171,901      42,025     233,438      82,597        10,280     540,241      
Q2 2025 -               -         6             3             14           23     -               -           301,553      148,714      31,727     481,994      
Q1 2025 1                   -         1             3             40           45     51,707        -           15,914        86,431        14,927     168,979      
Q4 2024 5                   4             2             1             28           40     277,159      104,978  95,598        23,393        11,017     512,145      
Q3 2024 4                   2             3             4             20           33     216,436      34,769     147,489      145,068      22,115     565,877      
Q2 2024 -               -         1             2             25           28     -               -           43,317        57,121        48,182     148,620      
Q1 2024 2                   -         1             1             22           26     116,434      -           37,395        31,927        8,589       194,345      
Q4 2023 7                   4             2             2             49           64     399,586      69,888     109,579      71,931        19,934     670,918      
Q3 2023 2                   3             4             3             25           37     113,333      38,668     161,593      98,273        16,860     428,727      
Q2 2023 -               -         1             2             39           42     -               -           37,102        83,591        39,585     160,278      
Q1 2023 2                   -         2             2             50           56     114,090      -           116,401      60,367        23,565     314,423      
Q4 2022 5                   3             1             4             47           60     284,386      49,645     44,496        140,353      17,690     536,570      
Q3 2022 3                   3             8             3             28           45     153,180      30,774     332,945      119,307      6,370       642,576      
Q2 2022 -               -         4             -          42           46     -               -           198,324      -               42,857     241,181      
Q1 2022 1                   -         2             3             40           46     58,871        -           79,228        78,105        21,840     238,044      
Q4 2021 6                   4             1             3             38           52     331,054      52,833     39,883        87,149        10,852     521,771      
Q3 2021 3                   2             3             4             29           41     157,101      40,819     130,000      161,014      21,632     510,566      
Q2 2021 -               -         -         -          30           30     -               -           -              -               8,867       8,867          
Q1 2021 -               -         -         -          5             5       -               -           -              -               520          520             

Totals 50                31           48          44           623         796   2,771,271   538,670  2,167,181  1,539,759   401,370  7,418,251  

Number of Events Event Attendance

Stadium Activity Reporting, Data and Information
Page A1, 1



Attachment A2

LV Stadium Event Company, LLC
Events at Allegiant Stadium | Event Detail Q4 2025

Event Event Type Quarter and Year Event Date Event Attendance % Out of Town % Main Reason for Travel
Paul McCartney Concert Q4 2025 10/04/25 42,926 70% 91%
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/08/25 530
UNLV vs Air Force UNLV Game Q4 2025 10/11/25 18,955
Raiders vs Tennessee Titans NFL Game Q4 2025 10/12/25 50,402 62% 83%
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/13/25 41
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/15/25 1,643
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/16/25 382
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/18/25 30
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/19/25 137
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/19/25 6,000
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/22/25 293
HBCU Classic Other Ticketed Event Q4 2025 10/25/25 30,149 65% 95%
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/28/25 936
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 10/29/25 906
UNLV vs New Mexico UNLV Game Q4 2025 11/01/25 14,374
Raiders vs Jacksonville Jaguars NFL Game Q4 2025 11/02/25 52,401 63% 82%
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 11/04/25 2,897
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 11/05/25 1,354
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 11/08/25 103
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 11/08/25 337
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 11/09/25 4,065
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 11/10/25 400
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 11/12/25 1,860
UNLV vs Utah State UNLV Game Q4 2025 11/15/25 18,187
Raiders vs Dallas Cowboys NFL Game Q4 2025 11/17/25 60,327 68% 95%
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 11/19/25 315
UNLV vs Hawaii UNLV Game Q4 2025 11/21/25 22,755
Raiders vs Cleveland Browns NFL Game Q4 2025 11/23/25 53,749 61% 79%
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 12/02/25 72
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 12/02/25 294
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 12/03/25 247
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 12/06/25 95
Raiders vs Denver Broncos NFL Game Q4 2025 12/07/25 57,018 69% 87%
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 12/08/25 29
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 12/09/25 895
Private Event Private Event Q4 2025 12/15/25 100
Raiders vs New York Giants NFL Game Q4 2025 12/28/25 52,136 54% 72%
Las Vegas Bowl Other Ticketed Event Q4 2025 12/31/25 34,269 76% 92%

Total 531,609                           

Stadium Activity Reporting, Data and Information
Page A2, 2



Attachment B1

LV Stadium Events Company, LLC
Allegiant Stadium Employment | Topline Position Report

Quarter Number of Persons Employed Number of Open Positions Total Staffing
Q4 2025 5,272 513 5,785
Q3 2025 4,999 871 5,870
Q2 2025 4,973 817 5,790
Q1 2025 4,583 970 5,553
Q4 2024 4,450 1,023 5,473
Q3 2024 4,666 1,371 6,037
Q2 2024 4,334 1,700 6,034
Q1 2024 3,950 1,915 5,865
Q4 2023 4,043 1,925 5,968
Q3 2023 4,167 1,774 5,941
Q2 2023 4,072 2,083 6,155
Q1 2023 3,593 2,171 5,764
Q4 2022 3,823 1,933 5,756
Q3 2022 3,825 1,863 5,688
Q2 2022 4,170 1,326 5,496
Q1 2022 3,866 1,382 5,248
Q4 2021 3,632 1,153 4,785
Q3 2021 3,743 1,008 4,751
Q2 2021 3,403 1,348 4,751

Stadium Activity Reporting, Data and Information
Page B1, 1



  

LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER:  5 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
APPROVAL OF UNIVERSITY OF NEVADA, LAS VEGAS (UNLV) 
2026 TEAM HOME GAME FOR THE 2026 SEASON AT 
ALLEGIANT STADIUM 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

That the Board of Directors considers approving the proposed August 29, 2026, home game 
against the Memphis Tigers as an addition to the approved UNLV Team Home Games 
schedule at Allegiant Stadium for the 2026 through 2033 football seasons. 
 
For possible action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 
       
 
 

 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

   
 

ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

    

 
  

Section 29(3)(g) of the Southern Nevada Tourism Improvements Act (Senate Bill 1 of the 
2016 30th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature, the “Act”) requires that the lease 
between the Stadium Authority with the Stadium Events Company (StadCo) for the football 
stadium provide for the accommodation of a sufficient number of UNLV regular season 
games (UNLV Team Home Games) and post-season games subject to certain conditions 
and restrictions: 
 
1. Any NFL event is given priority in scheduling; 

 
2. Any regular season or post-season home game of UNLV must: 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



 
 Page 2 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors Meeting  
Agenda Documentation 
Meeting Date: February 19, 2026 
Subject:  Approval of University of Nevada, Las Vegas (UNLV) 2026 Team Home 

Game for the 2026 Seasons at Allegiant Stadium 
 

   a. Not conflict with the use of the stadium for a Raiders NFL home game; 
  b. Not conflict with major events that are not NFL events scheduled before UNLV 

finalized its home game schedule for the applicable season; 
c. Be mutually agreed upon by UNLV and StadCo; and 

  d. Be approved by the Stadium Authority Board. 
 
3. After the Board approves UNLV’s scheduled home games, dates cannot be changed 

without UNLV’s approval except for NFL events, including NFL home games; and 
 

4. If a change to the schedule of UNLV home games is proposed to allow a televised UNLV 
home game, StadCo or the Raiders must use reasonable commercial efforts to assess 
the feasibility of the change. The change must be allowed if it is commercially reasonable 
unless it interferes with or impairs playing an NFL home game. 

 
Section 6.5 of the Stadium Lease Agreement between the Stadium Authority and StadCo 
requires a UNLV Joint Use Agreement that is required to comply in all respects with the Act. 
Article 5.2 of the UNLV Joint Use Agreement requires the Board to approve all UNLV Team 
Home Games. It further provides UNLV with the right to schedule two Saturday non-
conference home games (Priority UNLV Team Home Games) each season, subject to a 
priority order that complies with the Act. For one of these games, UNLV must notify StadCo 
at least one, but not more than four, seasons in advance. For the other game, UNLV must 
notify StadCo at least one, but not more than seven, seasons in advance. UNLV has the 
further right to schedule one Priority UNLV Team Home Game every other season on Labor 
Day weekend. 
 
Subject to the Board’s approval, UNLV and StadCo have mutually agreed to the attached 
UNLV Team Home Games schedule at Allegiant Stadium for the 2025-2033 seasons. The 
attached schedule presents games previously approved by the Board, additional proposed 
games for Board consideration, and future slots not yet scheduled by UNLV (TBD).  

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



 

 

 
2026 – 2033 Contracted UNLV Football Non-Conference Home Schedule 

 

Date Opponent Location Status 

August 29, 2026 Memphis Allegiant Stadium For Approval 

October 3, 2026 California Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

September 11, 2027 Akron Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

September 18, 2027 Arizona State Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

September 9, 2028 Houston Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

2028 – Pending TBD Allegiant Stadium  

September 15, 2029 TBD Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

September 22, 2029 University of Texas San Antonio Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

September 7, 2030 University of Texas at El Paso Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

August 31, 2030  James Madison Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

2031 – Pending TBD Allegiant Stadium  

2031 – Pending TBD Allegiant Stadium  

September 18, 2032 Miami of Ohio Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

2032 – Pending TBD Allegiant Stadium  

September 17, 2033 Sam Houston Allegiant Stadium Previously Approved 

2033 - Pending TBD Allegiant Stadium  

 



  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER:  6 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
FOOTBALL STADIUM COMMUNITY OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
REPORT 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

The Stadium Community Oversight Committee (Committee) met on January 26, 2026. The 
Committee Chair will provide a report of the meeting to the Board. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 

 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

   

ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

    

 
  

Senate Bill 1 of the 30th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1), the Southern 
Nevada Tourism Improvement Act, was signed into law in October 2016. This act provided 
for the financing and development of Allegiant Stadium. Section 29.5 of SB1 required the 
developer partner (DevCo) and StadCo to develop a Community Benefits Plan (Plan) to 
ensure the greatest possible participation by all segments of the local community in the 
economic opportunities available in connection with the design, construction, and operation 
of the National Football League stadium project developed by the developer partner and 
operated by StadCo.  
 
Section 2.6 of the Plan requires public reporting identifying StadCo’s operational compliance 
with the Plan. At the January 26, 2026, Committee meeting, StadCo representatives provided 
the most recent report. The Committee Chair and staff will summarize this report to the 
Board. 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER:  7 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
RESOLUTION TO TRANSFER APPROPRIATIONS BETWEEN 
FUNDS IN THE FISCAL YEAR 2026 BUDGET 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

That the Board of Directors considers approving the transfer reconciliation schedule and 
adopting the associated Resolution R-2026-01 to augment the fiscal year (FY) 2026 Clark 
County Stadium Authority budget. 
 
For possible action.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 The FY 2026 fiscal impact is detailed in the attached Resolution R-2026-01.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

   

ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

    

 
  

The Stadium Authority Board approved a staff-recommended fiscal year 2026 budget 
resolution for the Baseball Stadium funds at the May 22, 2025, meeting.  Staff propose 
budget modification to align the Football Stadium Capital Projects Fund transfer up to the 
statutorily required funding year.  
 
Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 354.598005 identifies the procedures and requirements for 
amending a local government’s budget.  

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



RESOLUTION NO. R-2026-01

RESOLUTION TO AUGMENT THE BUDGET OF THE 
CLARK COUNTY STADIUM AUTHORITY 

FOR THE 2026 FISCAL YEAR 

WHEREAS, the transfers from the Football Stadium Fund to the Football Stadium Capital Projects 
Fund required by Section 34.2(f) of Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature 
(SB1), the Southern Nevada Tourism Innovation Act, are one year in arrears, and 

WHEREAS, the Authority Board (Board) wishes to amend the transfers between the football funds, 
and 

WHEREAS, there is a need to modify appropriations to establish funding for expenditures and other 
uses in the current year as follows: 

Revenues and 
Other Sources 

Expenditures and 
Other Uses 

FOOTBALL STADIUM FUND: 
 Transfers to Football Stadium Capital Projects Fund $  - $   6,850,309
 Transfers to Waterfall Residual Fund - (6,850,309)
 TOTAL FOOTBALL STADIUM FUND $  - $  - 

FOOTBALL STADIUM CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND: 
 Transfers from Football Stadium Fund $  6,850,309 $  - 

   TOTAL FOOTBALL STADIUM CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND $  6,850,309 $  - 
WATERFALL RESIDUAL FUND: 
 Transfers from Football Stadium Fund $  - 
 TOTAL WATERFALL RESIDUAL FUND 

$(6,850,309) 
$(6,850,309) $  - 

NOW THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Clark County 
Stadium Authority shall amend its FY 2026 budget as follows, 

 By increasing revenues and other sources by $6,850,309 in the Football Stadium Capital Projects 
Fund; and 

By decreasing revenues and other sources by $6,850,309 in the Waterfall Residual Service Fund. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 19th day of February 2026, by the following vote: 

Those Voting Aye:   ______________ 

 ______________ 

 ______________ 

 ______________ 

 ______________ 



                                  ______________ 

                                  ______________ 

                     ______________ 

                                  ______________ 

                                  ______________ 

                                  ______________ 

 

Those Voting Nay:    ______________  

                                  ______________    

Those Abstaining:     ______________       

                        ______________             

Those Absent:           ______________   

                                  ______________    

CLARK COUNTY STADIUM AUTHORITY 

  By    _____________________________________                           
STEVE HILL  
CHAIR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________                                                                            
LAWRENCE EPSTEIN 
VICE CHAIRMAN 



Transfer Schedule for Fiscal Year 2025-2026

FUND TYPE FROM PAGE AMOUNT TO PAGE AMOUNT

FUND FUND

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

Football Stadium Football Stadium Debt Service 4               38,270,500        

(Previously Stadium Authority) UNLV Contributions 4               3,500,000          

Football Stadium Capital Projects 4               13,513,160        

Stadium Authority Waterfall Residual 4               4,026,216          

Baseball Stadium Baseball Stadium Debt Service 5               11,500,000        

UNLV Contributions Football Stadium 6          3,500,000          

Stadium Authority Waterfall Residual Football Stadium 7          4,026,216          

SUBTOTAL 7,526,216          70,809,876        

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS

Football Stadium Capital Projects Football Stadium 8          13,513,160        

(Previously Stadium Authority Capital Project)

SUBTOTAL 13,513,160        -                    

DEBT SERVICE FUNDS

Football Stadium Debt Service Football Stadium 10        38,270,500        

(Previously Stadium Authority Debt Service)

Baseball Stadium Debt Service 11        11,500,000        

SUBTOTAL 49,770,500        -                    

TOTAL TRANSFERS 70,809,876$      70,809,876$      

Page 13

Schedule T

T R A N S F E R S   I N T R A N S F E R S   O U T

Clark County Stadium Authority

SCHEDULE T - TRANSFER RECONCILIATION



  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER: 8 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
PERSONAL SEAT LICENSE MARKETING AND SALES 
AGREEMENT WITH ATHLETICS STADCO, LLC 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

That the Board of Directors considers delegating authority to the Board Chair to: 1) Execute 
a personal seat license (PSL) marketing and sales agreement (Agreement) between the 
Clark County Stadium Authority and Athletics StadCo, LLC (StadCo); and 2) Approve and 
execute any necessary documents and proposals to effectuate the Agreement. 
 
For possible action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 

 None 
 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

  ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

 

    

 
  

Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1), the Southern 
Nevada Tourism Innovation Act, was signed into law in June 2023. SB1 provides for financing 
and development of a Major League Baseball (MLB) stadium (Stadium) in Clark County.  
 
Section 27 of SB1 allows for the sale, license and transfer of PSLs in the Stadium. PSLs are 
payments by purchasers, to the owner of the Stadium project, for special rights of access to 
events at the Stadium and may include priority purchase rights to ticketed events in the 
Stadium, including the home games of the Athletics. 
 
 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



 
 Page 2 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors Meeting  
Agenda Documentation 
Meeting Date: February 19, 2026 
Subject:  Personal Seat License Marketing and Sales Agreement with Athletics 

StadCo, LLC 
 

The Authority owns the sole and exclusive right to sell or transfer the PSLs for any seats in 
the Stadium with the net proceeds of such sales to be used for Stadium construction.  SB1 
permits the Authority to appoint StadCo as its agent to market and sell PSLs on behalf of the 
Authority.    
 
Athletics Investment Group, LLC (TeamCo) will execute a joinder, as incorporated into the 
Agreement, through which TeamCo will perform StadCo’s obligations, as outlined in the 
Agreement, in the event StadCo fails to fulfill such obligations.   
 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



  

 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER:  9 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: BASEBALL STADIUM REVENUE REPORT 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

Stadium Authority staff will provide a report on year-to-date baseball stadium revenues. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 

 
 
 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

   

ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

    

 
  

Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1), the Southern 
Nevada Tourism Innovation Act, provides for the financing and development of a Major 
League Baseball (MLB) stadium through revenues generated in a Sports and Entertainment 
Improvement District (SEID). The SEID does not create new taxes or fees but redirects 
existing taxes and fees generated within the SEID boundaries to fund a portion of the public 
contribution to the Stadium. 
 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



  

 LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER:  10 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: MAJOR LEAGUE BASEBALL STADIUM PROJECT UPDATE 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

Representatives of Athletics StadCo LLC will update the Board of Directors on the progress 
of the Major League Baseball stadium project. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 

 
 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

   

ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

    

 
  

The Board of Directors selected Athletics StadCo LLC as the developer partner, or DevCo, 
of the Major League Baseball stadium project at its December 5, 2024, meeting. The 
Development Agreement between the Stadium Authority and DevCo was approved at the 
same meeting. 
 
Article 8 of the Development Agreement requires periodic reporting of the Major League 
Baseball stadium project status to the Board. 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



  

 
 

 
LAS VEGAS STADIUM AUTHORITY 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS MEETING 

AGENDA DOCUMENTATION 
 

MEETING DATE: FEBRUARY 19, 2026 ITEM NUMBER:  11 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

SUBJECT: 
BASEBALL STADIUM COMMUNITY OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
REPORT 

  
RECOMMENDATION 

The Baseball Stadium Community Oversight Committee (Baseball Committee) met on 
February 5, 2026.  Stadium Authority Staff will provide a report to the Board summarizing the 
Baseball Committee meeting. 
 
This is an informational item and does not require Board action. 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
None 

 
 
 

BOARD 
ACTION: 

   

ED FINGER, LVSA ADMINISTRATOR 

    

 
  

Senate Bill 1 of the 35th Special Session of the Nevada Legislature (SB1), the Southern 
Nevada Tourism Innovation Act, provided for the financing and development of the new Major 
League Baseball Stadium (Stadium) in Clark County.  SB1 required the developer partner 
(DevCo) and Baseball Stadium Events company (StadCo) to develop a community benefits 
agreement (Agreement) to ensure local community participation in economic opportunities 
available in connection with the design, construction, and operation of the Stadium.  Athletics 
StadCo LLC is serving as both StadCo and DevCo for the Stadium.  The Board approved 
the Agreement with StadCo and the Athletics Investment Group LLC (TeamCo) at its March 
21, 2024, meeting.  
 

PURPOSE AND BACKGROUND 

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684



 
 Page 2 
Las Vegas Stadium Authority Board of Directors Meeting  
Agenda Documentation 
Meeting Date: February 19, 2026 
Subject:  Baseball Stadium Community Oversight Committee Report 

 

SB1 further required the creation of the Baseball Committee and the appointment of a 
community benefits director to oversee the Agreement’s implementation and administration.  
The Baseball Committee held a meeting on February 5, 2026. 
 
Section 2.7 of the Agreement requires public reporting identifying StadCo’s operational 
compliance with the Agreement.   Stadium Authority staff will summarize this report to the 
Board.  

Docusign Envelope ID: 6F9DD863-3B64-47C4-A279-186712F80684


	17



